pars 1 11 14, 15, 16 42

Ear million of ear

[_ _ =

CSEMU/14/89 23rd March 1989 <u>Draft</u>

2

CONNITTEE FOR THE STUDY OF ECONOMIC AND MONETARY UNION

<u>REPORT ON</u>

ECONOMIC AND MONETARY

UNION IN THE EUROPEAN CONMUNITY

This report has been prepared in response to the mandate of the European Council "to study and propose concrete stages leading towards economic and monetary union".

Foreword

- i -

At its meeting in Hanover on 27th-28th June 1988 the European Council recalled "that, in adopting the Single Act, the Member States of the Community confirmed the objective of progressive realisation of economic and monetary union". The Heads of State and Government therefore decided to examine at the European Council meeting in Madrid in June 1989 the means of achieving this union. To that end they decided to entrust to a Committee, chaired by Mr. Jacques Delors, President of the European Commission, "the task of studying and proposing concrete stages leading towards this union".

In response to this request by the Heads of State and Government, the Committee has the honour to submit the attached Report. The ideas expressed and the proposals contained in the Report are given on the personal responsibility of the members of the Committee.

Table of contents

- ii -

Ι.	Past	and present developments in economic and monetary integra-	
		in the Community	1
		-	
	1.	The objective of economic and monetary union	1
	2.	The European Monetary System and the ecu	2
	3.	The Single European Act and the internal market programme	4
•	4.	Problems and perspectives	5
п.	The final stage of economic and monetary union		8
	1.	General considerations	8
	2.	The principal features of monetary union	10
	3.	The principal features of economic union	13
	4.	Institutional arrangements	20
	5.	Economic and monetary union in the context of the world	
		economy	26
III.	Step	os towards economic and monetary union	28
	1.	Principles governing a step-by-step approach	28
	2.	The ecu	30
	3.	The principal steps in stage one	32
	4.	The principal steps in stage two	36
	5.	The principal steps in stage three	39
	6.	One or several Treaties	41

7. Suggested follow-up procedure

<u>Page</u>

I. Past and present developments in economic and mometary

integration in the Community

a full

1. The objective of economic and monetary union

1. Efforts in the Community to progress towards full economic and monetary integration began in carsest as the Bretton-Woods system was breaking up. The Werner-Report on the realisation by stages of economic and monetary union was drawn up in 1970. This initiative took place against the background of the major achievements by the Community in the 1960s: the took completion of the transition period leading to customs union, the setting up of the common agricultural policy and the creation of a system of own resources. The Werner Report presented a first attempt to define and set out a plan for the attainment of economic and monetary union. In March 1971, following the Werner Report, member states expressed "their political will to establish an economic and monetary union".

2. Several important moves followed the conclusion **checker**: in 1972 the "Snake" was created; in 1973 the European Monetary Co-operation Fund (EMCF) was set up; and in 1974 the Council Decision on the attainment of a high degree of convergence in the Community and the Directive on stability, growth and full employment were adopted. Yet, by the mid-1970s the process of integration/lost momentum under the pressure from the divergent policy reactions to the economic shocks occurring at the time.

3. In 1979 the process of monetary integration was relaunched with the creation of the <u>European Monetary System</u> (EMS) and the <u>sem</u>. The success of the EMS in promoting its objectives of internal and external monetary stability contributed in recent years to further progress, as reflected in the adoption, in 1985, of the internal market programme and the signing of the Single European Act.

showing signe of decline. In 1869 the Hendral States and Comments, Maching in The Hayne, agreed that a plan by Stages Show lat be alrawn up with a were to the constrain of an acanan and manchases

PROFESSIONESUS TO WITTE RUU INSTERIO

Typreperied in 1970,

· h rd

Europen Currences Units (ECh)

The European Monetary System and the

2.

- 2 -

The European Monetary System was created by a Resolution of the 4. European Council followed by a Decision of the Council of Ministers and an Agreement between the participating central banks.

5. Within the framework of the EMS the participants in the Exchange Rate Mechanism (ERM) have succeeded in creating a zone of increasing monetary stability while gradually relaxing capital controls. The exchange rate constraint has greatly helped the participating countries with relatively high rates of inflation in gearing their monetary policy towards the objective of price stability, thereby laying the foundations for both a converging price performance at a low rate of inflation and the attainment of a high degree of exchange rate stability. This, in turn, has promoted moderation in cost increases in many countries, and led to an improvement in we overall economic performance. Moreover, we reduced uncertainty about exchange rate developments and the fact that the parities of the 1 have not been participating currencies are pat allowed to depart significantly from the fundamental economic factors have facilitated intra-European trade-at times-of-severe-economic-difficulties-and-high-unemployment.

The EMS has served as the focal point for improved monetary policy co-ordination and/provided a basis for multilateral surveillance 7has within the Community. Afts success 😸 In part) attributabed to the willingness of countries to opt for a strong currency policy stance, but Down a falso the flexible and pragmatic way in which the System has been managed especially by the increasingly close co-operation among central banks. (The System has also benefited from the role assumed by the Deutsche Mark as an "anchor" for participants' monetary and intervention policies. The EMS has evolved in response to changes in the economic and financial environment and on two occasions (Palermo 1986 and Basle/Nyborg 1987) its mechanism has been amended (and improved. shengthened.

> At the same time, the EMS has also suffered from a number of weaknesses. The lack of convergence of fiscal policies as reflected in large and persistent budget deficits in certain countries has remained a source of tensions and has put a disproportionate burden on monetary policy. Moreover, a number of Community countries have not yet joined the exchange rate mechanism and one participant adheres to a wider fluctuation

st sup-para.) Pöhl-suggests-to-replace-wording-in-brackets-bv-(Para protected intra-European trade against excessive exchange rate volatility

(Para: 5, 2nd sub-para.) Sentence between brackets suggested by Pohl-

P2154.5

(Para. 5, 3rd sub-para.) Whole sub-para., slightly amended, is suggested by Pöhl.

at the same binne as

can be

margins. The transition to the second stage of the EMS, as foreseen by the Resolution of the European Council adopted in 1978, half not been accomplished.

- 3 -

6. An important element in the launshing-of the European Monetary System was the creation of the ecu. In establishing the EMS, the European Council declared in 1978 that "a European currency unit (ecu) will be at the centre of the EMS". Apart from being used as the numeraire of the exchange rate mechanism and to a denominator for operations in both the intervention and credit mechanisms, the ecu serves primarily as a reserve asset and a means of settlement for EMS central banks. Although it is an integral part of the EMS, the ecu has for a number of reasons played only a limited role in the operating mechanisms of the EMS. FOR reason is that compulsory intervention and the build-up of intervention balances to be settled in ecu has remained rather limited as central banks had increasingly recourse to intra-marginal intervention involving the use of partner currencies.

By contrast, the ecu has gained considerable popularity in the market place, where its use as a denominator for financial transactions has spread significantly. In international banking the ecu is at present the sixth most important unit of denomination and ranks fifth in international bond issues, with a 6% market share. A wide set of ecu instruments is now available for investors, both at the short and the long end of the market. Moreover, the creation of an ecu clearing system, in which more than thirty commercial banks now participate, has contributed to the development and the liquidity of the ecu market.

The expansion of financial market activity in ecu reflects in part a growing issuance of ecu-denominated debt instruments by Community institutions and public sector authorities of some member countries, but also the ecu's attractiveness as a means of portfolio diversification and as a hedge against currency risks. However, as discussed in the Annex to this Report the evolution of the ecu market has been rather uneven. International banking business and new ecu Euro-bond issues grew vigorously in the first half of this decade, but have moderated since then. The lion's share of banking business represents interbank transactions whereas direct business with non-banks has remained relatively small and appears to have been driven primarily by officially encouraged borrowing demand in a few deriominate

and in part

and the shall be European Marting Fund

(Para. 6, 1st sub-para.) Wording between brackets-suggested by Pöhl.

countries. Moreover, ecu-denominated deposits by the non-bank sector have stagnated since 1985, suggesting that the ecu's appeal as a near money substitute and store of liquidity is modest. In addition, in the non-financial sphere the use of the ecu for the invoicing and settlement of commercial transactions has remained limited, covering at present only about 1% of the Community countries' external trade.

- 4

3. The Single European Act and the internal market programme

7. In January 1985 the Commission proposed to realise the objective for a market without internal frontiers by 1993. The essence of the measures for the removal of physical, technical and fiscal barriers was set out in a White Paper, which specified the precise programme, timetable and methods for creating a unified economic area in which persons, goods, services and capital will be able to move freely. This objective, together with the necessary-legal-provisions, was embodied in December 1985 in the <u>Single European Act</u>.

8. The Single European Act marked the first significant revision of the Treaty of Rome. It introduced <u>three important changes</u> in the Community's strategy for advancing in the integration process. Firstly, it greatly simplified the requirements of harmonising national law by limiting harmonisation to the essential standards, and by systematic adoption of mutual recognition of national norms and regulations. Secondly, it established a faster, more efficient and more democratic decision-making process by extending the scope of qualified majority voting and by giving the European Parliament a greater role in the legislative process. Thirdly, it reaffirmed the need to strengthen the Community's economic and social cohesion, to enhance the Community's monetary capacity in the perspective of economic and monetary union, to reinforce the Community's scientific and technological basis, to harmonise working conditions with respect to health and safety standards, to promote the dialogue between management and labour and to initiate action to protect the environment.

9. Considerable progress has been made over the last three years in implementing the internal market programme. In December 1988 the European Council, meeting in Rhodes, noted that "at the halfway stage towards the

it has been decided . Del will pully liberation copilal make fill j'uly 1980 und the In parlimenter. Jum ber en his will follow this after a period of handilian.

The underf 1992,

Kipikar

Benomen this three is

deadline of December 1992, half of the legislative programme necessary for the establishment of the large market is already nearly complete" and underlined "the <u>irreversible nature</u> of the movement towards a Europe without internal frontiers". There is, indeed, widespread evidence that the objective of a single market enjoys broad support by consumers and producers and that their economic decisions are increasingly influenced by the prospects of 1992. The anticipation of a market without internal frontiers has generated a new dynamism and has contributed to the recent acceleration of economic growth in the Community.

4. Problems and perspectives

ance

R

10. The implementation of the single market will link national economies much more closely together and significantly increase the degree of economic integration within the Community. This development will offer considerable opportunities for economic advancement because a unified enlarged economic space will greatly increase the freedom of choice of market participants, raise their purchasing power and generate considerable possibilities for exploiting economies of scale and comparative advantages.

However, for these opportunities to be fully explorted as significant structural adjustment is likely to be required. Both private market participants and policy makers will have to adapt their behaviour to changes in legislation and the emergence of a new economic setting.

1. While the Community has made important progress in its process of integration in recent years, it has to be recognised that this process has been uneven and that there is a <u>need for greater convergence in economic</u> <u>performance</u>. Although there has been a distinct downward trend in the movement of both consumer prices and unit labour costs, the dispersion of inflation rates is still considerable. At the same time, despite efforts towards budgetary consolidation in several member countries, budgetary positions continue to deviate considerably throughout the Community and external imbalances have accentuated markedly in the recent past. The existence of these invalances not only points to areas where economic performances have to be made more convergent, it also indicates that under present circumstances the use of the exchange rate as an instrument of adjustment could not yet be abandoned. <u>Doyle</u>: referring to the previous draft of the Report, attaches importance to the discussion of regional policy issues presented in that draft; his suggestion summarising the regional aspects is as follows: While the changes which will be brought about by EMU offer immense opportunities for economic advancement, it will be essential, in order to ensure the development of a more balanced economic structure throughout the Community, that Community regional and structural policies be enhanced and that there be a regional dimension to all economic policies.

This thought is essentially expressed in para 32, 1st sub-para.

wer noter hal benetit be echicinal In hand Dul.

Rolling accurate environment

- 5 -

deadline of December 1992, half of the legislative programme necessary for the establishment of the large market is already nearly complete" and underlined "the <u>irreversible nature</u> of the movement towards a Europe without internal frontiers". There is / indeed/ widespread evidence that the objective of a single market enjoys broad support by consumers and producers and that their economic decisions are increasingly influenced by the prospects of 1992. The anticipation of a market without internal frontiers has generated a new dynamism and has contributed to the recent acceleration of economic growth in the Community.

- 5 -

4. <u>Problems and perspectives</u>

Completion

10. The implementation of the single market will link national economies much more closely together and significantly increase the degree of economic integration within the Community. This-development will offer considerable opportunities for economic advancement because. A unified enlarged economic space will greatly increase the freedom of choice of market participants, raise their purchasing power and generate considerable possibilities for exploiting economies of scale and comparative advantages. *However, for these opportunities to be fully exploited, a*significant structural adjustment is likely to be required. Both private market participants and policy makers will have to adapt their behaviour to

changes in legislation and the emergence of a new economic setting.

11. While the Community has made important progress in its process of integration in recent years, it has to be recognised that this process has been uneven and that there is a <u>need for greater convergence in economic performance</u>. Although there has been a distinct downward trend in the movement of both consumer prices and unit labour costs, the dispersion of inflation rates is still considerable. At the same time, despite efforts towards budgetary consolidation in several member countries, budgetary positions combinue to deviate considerably throughout the Community and external imbalances have accentuated markedly in the recent past. The existence of these imbalances not only points to areas where economic performances have to be made more convergent, it also indicates that under present circumstances the use of the exchange rate as an instrument of adjustment could not yet be abandoned. <u>Doyle</u>: referring to the previous draft of the Report, attaches importance to the discussion of regional policy issues presented in that draft; his suggestion summarising the regional aspects is as follows:

While the changes which will be brought about by EMD offer immense opportunities for economic advancement, it will be essential, in order to ensure the development of a more balanced economic structure throughout the Community, that Community regional and structural policies be enhanced and that there be a regional dimension to all economic policies.

 \mathcal{O}

C S

۶8,

ΝO

100

This thought is essentially expressed in para. 32, 1st sub-para.

pobential

These prenefits will not be achieved without significant stractural adjustments.

to the evolving econonomic environment,

Relitiongh substantial frogress has been made, the process of Integration has been kneven. Greate- Convergence of economic performance is needed. Despite a marked downward trend in the average of price and wage inflatur, differences in vates between Combries vernains substantial considerable. Also budget any positions continue to differ greatly and external imbalances have sharply cita countries to recently. These clisequilibria shows book that performances with move to be usade since convergent and that the use of the exection water restrances to be used to be and the second in the second in the second of the second to be the second to be used to be used to be the second of the second to be the second to be used to be used to be the second to be about the second to be the second to be the count of the exection of the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the second to be the second to be the about the second to be the s

12. As economic interdependence increases, the room for independent policy manoeuvre will decrease. Freedom of capital movements and integrated financial markets would quickly translate incompatible national policies into exchange rate tensions and put an increasing and undue burden on monetary policy, if exchange rate realignments or recourse to safeguard clauses were to be avoided. The integration process thus requires more intensive and effective policy co-ordination, not only in the monetary field but also in all areas of national economic management affecting, aggregate demand, prices and costs of production. In-particular, at-the macro-economic-policy-level_further-efforts-are (required. In the monetary field the weaknesses of the EMS, referred to above, continue to exist. Outside the EMS, policy co-ordination remains largely perfunctory, end Especially in the area of fiscal policy the 1974 Decision on economic convergence has not succeeded in establishing an effective foundation for policy co-ordination. To some extend the pressure for mutually consistent macro-economic policies has se for been lessened by the existence of capital controls in some countries and the segmentation of markets through various types of non-tariff barriers." But full mobility of capital will become effective in 1990 and as the internal market programme is being implemented each country will be less and less shielded from developments elsewhere in the Community, and the attainment of national economic objectives will become more dependent upon a co-operative approach to policy-making.

-6- With fill

The smooth program in implemention

13. The success of the internal market programme will kinge on the reduction community's ability to eliminate the current imbalances and, thereby somits capacity to strengthen the co-ordination of its member countries' economic policies. In their decision-making national authorities, are frequently-faced with many-pressures and institutional constraints and even best efforts to choose a course of action mindful of international repercussions are likely to fail at certain times. [While voluntary <u>co-operation</u> should be relied upon as much as possible to arrive at increasingly convergent national policies, thus taking account of divergent constitutional situations in member countries, there is also likely to be a need for more binding procedures.]

tiples coardination of account policy - making is

(Para: 13) Wording between brackets suggested by Pöhl.

and the bull acalization of its benefits

and importance

Archional devision - making entruction and subject to many pressures and curtainhile Can share much helpe into accord in turnational repercursicions yfert.

denual

14. Economic—and—monetary union has been an objective of the Community since 1971 and was confirmed by the European Council at its meeting on 27th-28th June 1988 in Hanover when this Committee was set up. The implementation of a market without internal frontiers constitutes an important step in the direction of economic and monetary union, but it does not lead by itself to the attainment of this final objective. As will be discussed in the following parts of this Report, economic and monetary union requires additional and far-reaching steps in all areas of economic policy-making.

- 7 -

In accordance with its mandate, the Committee has focused its attention on the question of how to achieve economic and monetary_union. Ithas not considered its task to enquire whether economic and monetary union is desirable, or which advantages could be expected from it? Therefore, requirements and implications of economic and monetary union are discussed not in the light of a cost-benefit analysis, but as part of an investigation of the conditions under which such an union would be viable and successful.

In order to be able to set out such an approach_it_is_essential to define clearly the final objective. For this reason, the following part of this Report examines the principal features and implications of an economic and monetary union. The subsequent part then presents a pragmatic step-by-step approach which could lead in three stages to the final objective. and when

has requires a political decision.

monetary policy and macro-economic management. A monetary union would require a single monetary policy and the responsibility for the formulation of this policy would consequently have to be vested in one decision-making body. In the economic field a wide range of decisions would remain the preserve of national and local authorities. However, given the impact that they might have on the overall domestic and external economic situation of the Community and their implications for the conduct of a common monetary policy, such decisions would have to be placed within an agreed macro-economic framework and be subject to binding rules which would [enable the Community to determine an overall policy stance,] avoid major differences between individual member countries in public sector borrowing requirements and put binding constraints on the financing of budget deficits.

- 9 -

19. An essential element in defining the appropriate balance of power within the Community would be the strict adherence to the constitutional "<u>principle of subsidiarity</u>", according to which the functions of higher levels of government should be as limited as possible and should be only subsidiary to those of lower levels. Thus, the attribution of competences to the Community would have to be confined to those areas in which collective decision-making was necessary, whereas all policy functions which could be carried out at national (and local) levels without adverse repercussions on the cohesion and functioning of the economic and monetary union would have to remain within the competence of the member countries.

20. The Committee feels that concrete proposals leading to economic and monetary union can only be made if there is a clear understanding and acceptance of the implications and requirements of the final objective, and if due account is taken of past experiences and developments with economic and monetary integration in the Community. Economic union and monetary union are closely intertwined, form two integral parts of a single whole and would therefore have to be implemented in parallel. It is for reasons of expositional clarity that the following sections look separately at the principal features defining an economic and a monetary union. This description begins with the concept of a monetary union, chiefly because an economic union can be circumscribed more clearly and specifically once the main elements of a monetary union have been identified. (Para. 18, last sentence) Amended in accordance with suggestion by <u>Pöhl</u>; he also suggests deletion of the part between brackets.

COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT which sob up this Committee 14. The European Conneil ab its meeting on 27.28 June 1988, Confirmed the Objecture of for the Community leconomic and morebury union (. The completion of the internal market whomb frombers will marte an impubant stef. in this direction, Into I close who by itself lead to the attainment of the final objective. Economic and monebary union to an improbando additional step. goes well beyond the single mailieb fingramme, and as discussed in the following franks of this kepholo, it requires futer far reaching steps in all areas of economic fillicy making

Provisional address: Rue de la Loi 200 • B-1049 Brüssels - Belgium - Telephone: direct line 23 Telephone exchange 235 11 11 - Telefax 236 02 11 - Telex COMEU B 21877 - Telegraphic address COMEUR Brussels

II. The final stage of economic and monetary union

- 8 -

1. General considerations

15. <u>Economic and monetary union</u> in Europe would imply complete freedom of movement for persons, goods, services and capital, as well as irrevocably fixed exchange rates between national currencies or a single currency. This, in turn, would presuppose a high degree of integration and require a common monetary policy and consistent economic policies. These policies should be geared towards price stability, balanced growth and converging standards of living, high employment and external equilibrium. Economic and monetary union would represent the final result of the process of progressive economic integration in Europe.

16. Even after attaining economic and monetary union, the Community would continue to consist of independent nations with differing economic characteristics, traditions, social customs and languages. The existence and preservation of this <u>plurality</u> would necessitate that a degree of autonomy in economic decision-making continued to rest with individual member countries and that a balance were struck between national and Community competences. For this reason it would not be possible simply to follow the example of existing federal states; it would be necessary to develop an innovative and unique approach.

17. The Treaty of Rome, as amended by the Single European Act, provides the legal foundation for many of the necessary steps towards economic integration, but does not suffice for the creation of an economic and monetary union. The realisation of this objective would call for new arrangements which could only be established on the basis of <u>a new Treaty</u> and consequent changes in national legislations. The Treaty would lay down the functional and institutional arrangements, as well as provisions governing their step-by-step implementation.

18. Taking into account what is already provided for in the EC Treaties, the need for a <u>transfer of decision-making power</u> from member states to the Community as a whole would arise primarily in the fields of

1. 1947 K

(Para. 17) <u>Leigh-Pemberton</u> suggests to shift this para. 17 to the end of Part II; in his view the final sentence of para. 17 deserves a fuller treatment.

(Para. 18) Leigh-Pemberton-suggests that para. 18-could be omitted

monetary policy and macro-economic management. A monetary union would require a single monetary policy and the responsibility for the formulation of this policy would consequently have to be vested in one decision-making body. In the economic field a wide range of decisions would remain the preserve of national and local authorities. However, given the impact that they might have on the overall domestic and external economic situation of the Community and their implications for the conduct of a common monetary policy, such--decisions would have to be placed within an agreed macro-economic framework and be subject to binding rules which would [enable_the_Community to determine an overall policy stance,] avoid major differences between individual member countries in public sector borrowing requirements and put binding constraints on the financing of budget deficits.

19. An essential element in defining the appropriate balance of power within the Community would be the strict adherence to the constitutional "<u>principle of subsidiarity</u>", according to which the functions of higher levels of government should be as limited as possible and should be only subsidiary to those of lower levels. Thus, the attribution of competences to the Community would have to be confined to those areas in which collective decision-making was necessary, whereas All policy functions which could be carried out at national (and local) levels without adverse repercussions on the cohesion and functioning of the economic and monetary union would have a mean within the competence of the member countries.

20. The Committee feels that concrete proposals leading to economic and monetary union can only be made if there is a clear understanding and acceptance of the implications and requirements of the final objective, and if due account is taken of past experiences and developments with economic and monetary integration in the Community Economic union and monetary union are closely intertwined form two integral parts of a single whole and would therefore have to be implemented in parallel. It is for reasons of expositional clarity that the following sections look separately at the principal features defining an economic and a monetary union. This description begins with the concept of a monetary union, chiefly because an economic union can be circumscribed more clearly and specifically once the main elements of a monetary union have been identified. (Para. 18, last sentence) Amended in accordance with-suggestion_by-Pöhl; he also suggests-deletion of the part_between brackets.

Gournerty ever a whole,

< م

low

2. The principal features of monetary union

21. A <u>monetary union</u> describes a single currency area in which policies are managed jointly with a view to attaining common macro-economic objectives. As already stated in the 1970 Werner Report, there are three necessary conditions for a monetary union:

- 10 -

- the assurance of total and irreversible convertibility of currencies;
- the complete liberalisation of capital transactions and full integration of banking and other financial markets; and
- the elimination of margins of fluctuation and the irrevocable locking of exchange rate parities.

The first two of these requirements have already been met, or will be with the completion of the internal market programme. The single most important condition for a monetary union would, however, be accomplished only when the decisive step was taken to lock exchange rates irrevocably.

As a result of this step, national currencies would become increasingly close substitutes and their interest rates would tend to converge. However, the pace with which these developments took place would depend critically on the extent to which firms, households, labour unions and other economic agents were convinced that the decision to lock exchange rates would not be reversed. Initially, the continuing existence of national currencies might leave doubts about the commitment to unchangeable exchange rate parities and could engender market perceptions of differences between individual currencies' quality and standing. Both coherent monetary management and convincing evidence of an effective co-ordination of non-monetary policies would be crucial in dispelling such doubts over time.

22. The three above-mentioned requirements are necessary for the establishment of a single currency area, but their implementation would not necessarily mark the end of the process of monetary unification in the Community. The adoption of <u>a single currency</u>, while not strictly necessary for the creation of a monetary union, might be seen - for economic as well as psychological and political reasons - as a natural and desirable further

(Para. 22) <u>Leigh-Pemberton</u> would prefer the introduction of a single currency as soon as possible after the locking.

44

Time diper with proches at

PII

(Para. 22) <u>diampi</u> recalls that the formulation "the ecu should develop ..." instead of "the ecu has the potential to develop ..." had been adopted at the February meeting. development of the monetary union.' A single currency would clearly demonstrate the irreversibility of the move to monetary union, considerably facilitate the monetary management of the Community and have a much greater weight relative to other major currencies than any individual Community currency. In this connection, it would be desirable to endorse the idea that the ecu has the potential to develop into the future currency of the Community and an official declaration to this effect should be made-at the time of the decision to-draw up a new Treaty. This would imply that the present basket ecu is replaced by a new abstract ecu at the time of transition to the common currency. The transition would have to be made without discontinuity between the present ecu and the future single currency: any debt-contracted in ecus before the introduction of the single currence would have to be payable at face value in ecus if at at an aturity, the transition to the single currency_had_been made. The replacement of national currencies by a single currency would take a certain time, require that economic agents had become sufficiently acquainted with the ecu and that its use in commercial and financial transactions had spreaded

- 11 -

23. The establishment of a monetary union would have far-reaching implications for the formulation and execution of monetary policy in the Community. Once permanently fixed exchange rates had been adopted, but national_currencies continued-to-exist.in.an_environment_of freewand-fully integrated-capital-and-money=markets there would be a need for a single monetary policy, the coveried out=through new operational procedures and network policy in the co-ordination of as many national monetary policies as there were currencies participating in the union. This, in turn, would nequire-the-attribution of fresponsibility for monetary policy is a new institution, the European System of Central Banks-(the principal features of which are outlined in Section 4-below), in which centralised and collective decisions on the supply of money and credit in the Community would be taken.

This shift from national monetary policies to a single monetary policy is an inescapable consequence of entering a monetary union and would mark one of the principal institutional changes required by economic and monetary union IIn practice, however, the incision would not be so deep, but rather would represent the completion of a progressively intensified co-ordination of national monetary policies; which had in many respects, (Para. 22) <u>Alternative text proposed by Pöhd</u>: It is probably too early for a decision that the present ecu-should develop into the future currency of the Community. The present basket ecu assumes the existence of its component currencies. Their disappearance would by definition also mean that the existing ecu would have to be replaced by a new abstract ecu at the time of transition to the common currency. In any case the transition would have to be made without discontinuity from the existing basket ecu if it were so decided. Adequate time would be required for economic agents to become acquainted with the new ecu and its characteristics.

which wender Would not be setticus wented have to be verticed

(Para. 23, 2nd-sub-para-)-Alternative-text-proposed_by_Rohl;

Although a progressively intensified co-ordination of national monetary policies would in many respects have prepared the move to a single monetary

- 11 -

policy, the implication of such a move would be far-reaching. Together with the permanent fixing of exchange rates it would deprive individual countries of the principal instrument available to correct economic imbalances and act independently in pursuit of national objectives, especially price stability. This loss would be most intensely felt by those countries that had retained some room for manoeuvre to pursue stability objectives under the less binding EMS rules.

- 11a -

already foreshadowed the move to a single monetary policy in the community.

- 12 -

Even prior to the decision to fix exchange rates permanently, the full liberalisation of capital movements and financial market integration will create a situation in which the co-ordination of monetary policy will have to strengthen progressively. Once every banking institution in the Community is free to accept deposits from, and to grant loans to, any customer in the Community and in any of the national currencies, the large degree of territorial coincidence between the national central banks' area of jurisdiction, the area in which their currency is used and the area in which "their" banking system operates will be lost, and the effectiveness of national monetary policies will become increasingly dependent upon co-operation among central banks. Indeed, the growing co-ordination of monetary policies will make a positive contribution to financial market integration and will help central banks to gain the experience that is necessary for moving to a single monetary policy.

24. In summary, the realisation of a monetary union would mean that in a situation of free capital movements and full financial integration, the exchange rates between Community currencies would be irreversibly fixed. This would create a mometary union in which all national currencies became increasingly close substitutes for each other and might eventually be replaced by [the ecu as the] sole Community currency, The transition from a situation of fixed but adjustable exchange rates to a system of permanently locked parities would imply a fundamental change in the economic as well as the monetary management of the Community. National monetary policies would have to give way to a single monetary policy for the Community as a whole, formulated and executed jointly in the context of European System of Central Banks. At the same time, a single currency area would imply the abandonment of the exchange rate as an instrument of adjustment of imbalances among Community countries and would therefore require, in parallel to the process of monetary integration, effective measures to enforce policies in non-monetary areas.

m bluse circumstance,

(Para. 24)_Pöhl_suggestsstoromit=reference-to-the=ecu

3. The principal features of economic union

25. <u>Economic union</u> - in coexistence with a monetary union - combines the characteristics of an unrestricted common market with a set of rules which are indispensable for its proper working. In this sense economic union can be described in terms of four basic elements:

- the single market within which persons, goods, services and capital can move freely;
- competition policy and other measures aimed at strengthening market mechanisms;
- common policies aimed at structural and regional development; and
- macro-economic policy co-ordination, including binding rules for budgetary policies.

In identifying the content and limits of specific rules and arrangements defining an economic union, the Community should be guided by two considerations.

Firstly, the economic union should be inspired by the same market-oriented economy principles that constitute the foundation of the economic order of its member countries. Differences in policy choices may exist between member countries or - within the same country - in different periods. However, beyond such differences, a distinctive common feature of economic systems in Europe is the combination of a large degree of freedom for market behaviour and private economic initiative with public intervention in the provision of certain social services and public goods.

Secondly, an appropriate balance between the economic and the monetary components should be ensured for the union to be viable. This would be essential because of the close interactions between economic and monetary developments and policies. A coherent set of economic policies at the Community and national levels would be necessary to maintain permanently fixed exchange rates between Community currencies, and $AG_{conversely}$, a common monetary policy in support of a single currency area, would be necessary for the Community to develop into an economic union.

[26. The measures-aimed at <u>creating-the single market are to a large</u> extent-envisaged in the <u>freaty</u> of Rome and the Single European Act. With (Para. 26) Pöhl suggests to delete=para _26; he comments:

(Para. 25 third indent) <u>Leigh-Pemberton</u> suggests "possible common policies ..." in third indent.

- 13 -

The text also assumes partial harmonisation of national tax treatment, but nowhere in the text is there firm support for the idea that tax authority should be (partly, largely, in good part?) vested with the Community (i.e. a future European Parliament), as part of the needed degree of uniformity of fiscal policy, and in response to the need for built-in redistribution mechanisms to deal with the effects of regional imbalances (in place of otherwise unavoidable large-scale demands for fiscal transfers).

- 13á

<u>Leigh-Pemberton</u> suggests redraft to make clear that a common monetary policy and a single currency are not necessary for economic union, though they may be desirable; he also suggests that para. 26 could be expanded to give greater detail on a "soft" union which goes beyond the single market as described here. their implementation, by 1992, all barriers which tend to separate markets along national borders will be eliminated. In particular, all technical and regulatory obstacles will be removed, norms will be harmonised or mutually recognised, and certain common minimum standards governing social policy and consumer and environmental protection will be agreed. Moreover, differences in national tax treatment may have to be reduced to avoid severe distortion in the competitiveness of industries operating in different countries of the Community.

The creation of a single market will impart strong impulses to economic growth and increase economic welfare through both a further specialisation in line with countries' and regions' comparative advantages and the exploitation of economies of scale in production, research and marketing. These gains will materialise as the residents in the enlarged market without internal frontiers respond to price, wage and interest rate movements, which, transmitted throughout the Community, will provide important incentives for better allocation of factors of production and for a more efficient use of economic resources. There is no doubt that this process will stimulate economic activity and employment in the Community as a whole, and will generate greater economic freedom and increased trade in goods and services.]

27. The creation of a single currency area would further enhance the advantages of an enlarged economic space because it would remove intra-Community exchange rate uncertainties and lower transactions costs, eliminate the possibility of movements of exchange rates unwarranted by fundamental factors, contribute in the longer run to the evolution of a more homogeneous economic structure in the Community and reduce the susceptibility of the Community to external shocks.

At the same time, however, exchange rate adjustments would no longer be available as an instrument to correct economic imbalances within the Community. Such <u>imbalances might arise</u> because the process of adjustment and restructuring set in motion by the removal of physical, technical and fiscal barriers is unlikely to run smoothly or always produce satisfactory results within reasonable periods of time. Imbalances might also emanate from labour and other cost developments in one member country, external shocks with differing repercussions on individual economies, or divergent economic policies pursued at national levels.

- 14 -

With parities irrevocably fixed, foreign exchange markets would cease to provide a source of pressure for national policy corrections when national economic disequilibria developed and persisted. Moreover, the statistical measurement and the interpretation of economic imbalances might become more difficult because in a fully integrated market balance-of-payments figures, which are currently a highly visible and sensitive indicator of economic disequilibria, would no longer play such a significant role as a guidepost for policy-making. Nonetheless, such imbalances if left uncorrected would manifest themselves as regional disequilibria. Measures designed to strengthen the mobility of factors of production would be one way to deal with such imbalances.

28. The creation of an economic and monetary union would-need to complement the single market through <u>action in three interrelated areas</u>: competition policy and other measures aimed at strengthening market mechanisms; common policies to enhance the process of resource allocation in those economic sectors and geographical areas where the working of market forces needed to be reinforced or complemented; macro-economic co-ordination, including binding rules in the budgetary field and other arrangements both to limit the scope for divergences between member countries and to design an overall economic policy framework for the Community as a whole.

29. <u>Competition policy</u> - conducted at the Community level - would have to operate in such a way that access to markets would not be impeded and market functioning not be distorted by the behaviour of private or public economic agents. Such policies would have to address conventional forms of restrictive practices and the abuse of dominant market positions, but would also have to deal with new aspects of antitrust laws, especially in the field of merger and takeover activities. The use of government subsidies to assist particular industries should be strictly circumscribed because they distort competition and cause an inefficient use and allocation of scarce economic resources.

30. <u>Community policies in the regional and structural field</u> would be **DECENSA** [of parametric importance,] in order to promote an optimum allocation of resources and to spread welfare gains throughout the Community. Without how let have be be complemented

(Para: 29) Sentence between brackets amended as suggested by Pohl.

- 15 -

(Para. 30, 1st sub-para.) <u>Leigh-Pemberton</u>: not all countries regard resource transfer as a solution to these problems; he wishes also to say

- 15 -

that there are no easy options and that experience to date (at the national and Community level) does not offer reassurance that such policies would be effective.

- 15a -

This the Community

1 in head of

adequate consideration for regional imbalances, the economic union would be faced with grave economic and political risks. For this reason particular attention would have to be paid to an effective Community policy aimed at cushioning regional and structural disparities and promoting a balanced development throughout the Community. In this context the regional implications of other Community policies would have to be taken into account.

- 16 -

The-creation of a-single-market and the locking of exchange rateswould_take=place=in=a=situation in_which:=owing (to ill-adapted structures and differences in productivity some major regional disparities would stillerist. The impact of economic and monetary integration on these reproved disparities manual difficult to assess: on the one hand, economic integration would provide less developed regions with lower wage levels with an opportunity to attract modern and rapidly growing service and manufacturing industries for which the choice of location would not necessarily be determined by transport costs and market proximity. On the other hand, however, transport costs and economies of scale would tend to favour a shift in economic activity away from less developed regions. especially if they were at the periphery of the Community, to the highly developed areas at its centre. The economic and monetary union should avoid undue economic and political tensions arising from possible dislocations of industries and labour forces. Therefore, it would have to encourage and guide structural adjustment which would help the Community's poorer regions to catch up with the wealthier ones. To this end, the Community would have to develop further an effective policy and be endowed with adequate financial resources to allow it to support regional development efforts undertaken at national levels.

A step in this direction was taken in February 1988 when the European Council decided to strengthen and reorganise the Community's regional policies in several respects: the size of structural funds will be doubled over the period up to 1993, emphasis will be shifted from project to programme financing, and a new form of partnership will be established between the Community and the receiving regions. In the process of creating economic and monetary union such policies might have to be strengthened further after 1993, depending upon the speed of progress towards economic and monetary union. (Para. 30, 2nd sub-para.) <u>Leigh-Pemberton</u> suggests-rednaft: If economic and monetary union were to be undertaken before the disparities were reduced, to avoid ... forces, the Community would have to encourage ...

[and stinchural

[At the same time, excessive reliance on financial assistance through regional and structural policies could cause tensions that need to be avoided. The principal objective of regional policies should not be to subsidise incomes and simply temper inequalities in standards of living, but to help to equalise production conditions through investment programmes in such areas as physical infrastructure, communication, transportation and education so that large-scale movements of labour do not become the major adjustment factor. The success of these policies will hinge not only on the size of the available financial resources, but to a decisive extent also on their efficient use and on the private and social return of the investment programmes. Indeed, the recent experience of countries inside and outside the Community has shown that structural and regional development programmes have been particularly successful when improvements in the resource base of regions, encouraged by investment in infrastructure and education, have been reinforced by decentralised initiatives for local entrepreneurship, modernisation of urban areas and local institutional arrangements favouring development. A long-term approach would offer countries with lower levels of productivity an appropriate period of transition and in this sense would constitute an essential element of the policy mix to ensure continuing economic integration.

Apart from regional policies, the Treaty of Rome, as amended by the Single European Act, have laid the foundations of Community policies aimed at common goals in areas such as infrastructure, research and technological development, and environment. Such policies would not only enhance market efficiency and offset market imperfections, but could also contribute to regional development. Subject to the limits of the principle of subsidiarity, such policies would have to be developed further in the process towards economic and monetary union.]

[If wage flexibility and labour mobility are insufficient to eliminate differences in competitiveness in different regions and countries of the Community, there could be relatively large declines in output and employment in areas with deteriorating competitiveness. In order to reduce adjustment burdens temporarily, it might be necessary in certain circumstances to organise financing flows through official channels. Such financial support would be additional to what might be provided by spontaneous capital flows or external borrowing and should be granted on (Para. 20, 4th and 5th sub-paras.) <u>Leigh-Pemberton</u> suggests to omit the two sub-paras. between brackets.

P15

28

136.5

P16 L23

28

(Para. 30, 7th sub-para.) Doyle suggests deletion of this sub-para.

- 17 -

terms and conditions that would prompt the recipient to intensify its adjustment efforts.]

- 18 -

31. <u>Macro-economic policy</u> is the third area in which action would be necessary for a viable economic and monetary union. This would require an appropriate definition of the role of the Community is the co-ordination of economic policies.

However, an economic and monetary union could only operate on the basis of mutually consistent and sound behaviour by governments, unions and other economic agents in all member countries. In particular, unco-ordinated and divergent national budgetary policies would undermine monetary stability, generate imbalances in the real and financial sectors of the Community and render it impossible to pursue appropriate macro-economic policies for the Community as a whole. Similarly, strong divergences in wage levels, not justified by different trends in productivity would produce economic tensions and pressures for monetary expansion.

_____To some extent market forces would exert a disciplinary influence. because financial markets, consumers and investors would respond to differences in macro-economic developments in individual countries and regions, assess the budgetary and financial position of addifferent. commonly agreed fiscal guidelines or wage settlements, and thus exert pressure for sounder policies. However, (Para. 31) <u>Leigh-Pemberton</u> suggests to omit the paras. between brackets (starting at the beginning of para. 31 and ending with the 4th sub-para.).

promoting price sheliting and economic growthe through

experience suggests that market perceptions do not necessarily provide strong and compelling signals and that access to a large capital market may for some time even facilitate the financing of economic imbalances. Rather than leading to a gradual adaptation of borrowing costs, market views about the creditworthiness of official borrowers tend to change abruptly and result in the closure of access to market financing. The constraints imposed by market forces might either be too slow and weak or too sudden and disruptive. This is why countries will have to accept that sharing a common market and a single currency area imposes policy constraints.

Hence

In the general macro-economic field, an overall assessment of the short-term and medium-term economic developments of the Community should be agreed periodically and constitute the framework for a better co-ordination of national economic policies. The Community should be in the position to monitor its overall economic situation, to assess the consistency of developments in individual countries with regard to common objectives and to formulate guidelines for policy.

As regards wage formation and industrial relations, the autonomous negotiating process of social partners should be preserved, but efforts should be made to convince European management and labour of the advantages of gearing wage policies largely to improvements in productivity. Governments, for their part, should refrain from direct intervention in the wage and price formation process.

[In the budgetary field, particular arrangements would be necessary. Such arrangements should, firstly, impose effective and binding limits on budget deficits that could be incurred by individual member countries of the Community, although in setting these limits the situation of each member country might have to be taken into consideration. Secondly, the arrangements would have to include (in accordance with the criteria laid down for a European System of Central Banks) strict limits - both in size and duration - on the maximum permissible access to central bank credit and other forms of monetary financing, as well as on borrowing in non-Community currencies. Thirdly, the arrangements should enable the Community to conduct a coherent mix of fiscal and monetary policies, i.e. to dispose of a system of rules that could be applied with a view to determining the aggregate balance on national budgetary positions, including that of the Community.] P18 L11

(Para. 21, 7th sub-para.) Alternative text proposed by Pöhl:

In the budgetary field binding rules are required that would, firstly, impose effective upper limits on budget deficits of individual member countries of the Community; secondly, exclude access to direct central bank credit and limit recourse to external borrowing, including borrowing in non-Community currencies. With a view to effective control and co-ordination of market borrowing by public entities at all levels, a "public finance co-ordinating authority" consisting of representatives of all such entities should be established. One of its objectives would be to facilitate the conduct of a coherent mix of fiscal and monetary policies.

- 19 -

In <u>summary</u>, the establishment of an economic union would require

- 20 -

- the creation of an internal market without physical, technical or fiscal frontiers, supplemented by a competition policy which effectively removes distortions in competition;
- a system of policies to stimulate regional and structural developments through multi-annual investment programmes, which would help regions with lower productivity to catch up with the more developed parts of the Community;
- [- common policies with regard to infrastructure, research and technological development, and environment, which would help to exploit the full potential of the single market and complement its role in the allocation of resources;
- consideration of the social dimension of the European Community;
- a framework for monitoring and co-ordinating general short-term and medium-term economic developments in the Community with a view to attaining non-inflationary, balanced economic growth;]
- effective and binding rules, which would ensure a coherent macro-fiscal policy stance in the Community, exclude access to direct central bank credit and limit recourse to borrowing in third currencies.
- 4. Institutional arrangements

33. Management of the economic and monetary union would call for <u>an</u> <u>institutional framework</u> which would allow policy to be decided and executed at the Community level in those economic areas that were of direct relevance for the functioning of the union. The institutional framework would have to promote efficient economic management, properly <u>embedded in</u> the democratic process. The creation of a monetary union would messessitate, the setting up of a new monetary institution, placed in the constellation of Community institutions (European Council, Council of Ministers, European Parliament, Commission and Court of Justice). Although the establishment of economic union would not necessarily require the greation of a new institution the formulation and implementation of common policies in non-monetary fields and the co-ordination of policies under the competence



anamic and

coestic

is needed

full

of national authorities could require a revision and, possibly, some restructuring of existing Community institutions, Com a be received.

- 21 -

34. The need for A new monetary institution (arises because a single monetary policy cannot result from independent decisions and actions by different central banks, and because day-to-day monetary policy operations cannot respond quickly to changing market conditions unless they are decided centrally (, The Community's monetary institution responsible for domestic and international monetary policy could be organised according to some federal form that might be called a European System of Central Banks (ESCB). The System would have to be given the status of armew and autonomous institution of the Community operating under the provisions of the Treaty and could consist of a central institution (with its own balance sheet), and/national central banks. At the final stage the ESCB - acting through its Council - would be responsible for formulating and implementing monetary policy as well as managing the Community's exchange rate policy vis-à-vis third currencies. The national central banks would be entrusted with the implementation of policies in conformity with guidelines established by the Council of the ESCB and in accordance with instructions from the central institution. be based

The European System of Central Banks should rest on the following principles:

Mandate and functions

the System would be responsible for the formulation of monetary policy at the Community level and its implementation at the national level, for the full convertibility of European currencies, and for the maintenance of a properly functioning payment system; [the System would have to regulate the amount of money in circulation and the volume of credit_supplied by banks and other financial institutions on the basis of crediteria designed to ensure price stability as well as economic-growth; \$
the System would {be responsible for the formulation of banking supervisory policies of the national supervisory authorities.

considered the political structure of the Community and the possibility of making existing cuched part of the make mistikalian, the

The Community showed

P19 143

(<u>Mandate and functions</u>, 1st indent) <u>Pöhl</u> suggests: the System ... other financial institutions (with a view to safeguarding overall price stability) (<u>Mandate and functions</u>, 1st indent) <u>Leigh-Pemberton</u> suggests: the System would be committed to promoting price stability as well as economic growth. (<u>Mandate_and_functions, 2nd_indent</u>) <u>Böbl</u>:/participate in the

Status

- independence of instructions from national governments and Community authorities;
- proper democratic legitimisation through reporting and appointment procedures;
- appointment of the members of the Board by the European Council on the proposal of the ESCB Council; the tenure of Board members would be for five to seven years and would be irrevocable;
- transmission of an annual report by the ESCB to the European Council and the European Parliament; the Chairman of the Board could be invited to report to these institutions;
- supervision of the administration of the System independently of the Community bodies, for example by a supervisory council or a committee of independent auditors.

Structure and organisation

- a federative structure, since this would correspond best to the political structure of the Community;
- establishment of a European Central Bank Council (composed of the Governors of the central banks and the members of the Board), which would be responsible for the formulation of and decision on the thrust of monetary policy;
- establishment of a Board (with supporting staff), which would monitor monetary developments and oversee the implementation of the common monetary policy;
- national central banks, which would execute operations in accordance with instructions given by the Board.

Policy instruments'

- the instruments available to the System, together with a procedure for amending them, would be specified in its statutes; the instruments would comprise both regulatory powers and the authority to conduct central banking operations in money and foreign exchange markets;
- there would be strict limitations on lending to all public authorities;

(<u>Policy instruments</u>, 1st indent) <u>Leigh-Pemberton</u>: it is innecessary to specify in the statutes the instruments available; it is also not clear why the ESCB should need authority to conduct central banking operations in money and foreign exchange markets.

(<u>Status</u>, <u>3rd</u> indent) <u>Leigh-Pemberton</u> suggests omission of the three indents; if detail is necessary, it would be better to have it in Part III.

- the monetary policy instruments would be oriented towards a free market economy.

- 23 -

35. Win contrast to the monetary field, in the economic field an institutional framework for performing policy tasks is already in place, with different and complementary functions conferred to the Gounciels _____the European Parliament, the Commission and the Court of Justice. The new Treaty would therefore not have to determine the mandate, status and structure of a new institution but to complement and adapt the role of the existing institutions in the light of the policy functions they would have to fulfil in an economic and monetary union. The new Treaty would have to specify this adaptation and determine the areas where additional decision-making authority would have to be transferred from the national to the Community level

General criteria

In order to ensure a flexible and effective conduct of policies in those economic areas in which the Community would be involved, several basic requirements would have to be fulfilled:

where

extent that policies were decided and enacted at the Community level, there would have to be a clear distribution of responsibilities among the existing Community institutions, with due regard to whether decisions relate to the setting of broad policy directions or to day-to-day operations in the light of current developments. By analogy with the structure of the European System of Central Banks, where the ESCB Council would determine the broad lines of monetary policy and the day-to-day execution of these policies would be in the hands of the Board, a similar allocation of responsibilities could be envisaged in the economic field by reserving the right to determine the broad lines of economic policy to the Council of Ministers, while the day-to-day execution of these policies would be in the hands of the Commission 7:

in case of non-compliance by member states, the Commission would have the responsibility for taking effective action to assure compliance; the nature of such action would have to be explored;

the Connecil of Africanishers, the Morrischerry Commin thea,

1st sub-para.) Amended as suggested by Pöhl-(Para. <u>3</u>5

(General criteria, 1st_indent) Addition suggested by Poh

2nd indent) Additional indent suggested by Pöhl; (General criteria. Duisenberg suggests a similar formulation

Where

- in those areas in which the Community's role would be to co-ordinate policies that are decided and implemented by member countries, compliance with the Community's policy framework would have to rely on a system of binding rules in individual member states, including the possibility - for the Council or the Commission - to impose sanctions in the event of departures from the agreed policy line;
- [- discretionary changes in Community resources, in the level of harmonised taxation rates and in the terms and conditions attached to structural policies and Community loans should become available instruments and incentives in support of agreed policies.]

Single market and competition policy

laich

In these two areas, the necessary procedures and arrangements have already been established by the Treaty of Rome and the Single European Act, conferring upon the Community the legislative, executive and judicial authority. While-for-economic-agents the completion of the internal market represents a marked easing of the overall burden of regulation, for the Community institution the 300 new directives necessary to create and maintain-the-single-market will represent a substantial addition to their executive and policing functions. New instruments and procedures to enforce the rules of the single market might prove necessary after 1992.

Community policies in the regional and structural field

The foundations for a more effective Community role in regional and structural development have recently been put in place, involving both a doubling of the resources of structural funds and a reorganisation of policies as described in earlier parts of this report. These mechanisms might have to be further extended and made more effective as part of the process leading to economic and monetary union.

Macro-economic policy

policies would be to promote-growth and employment in an environment of price stability and economic cohesion. For this purpose co-ordination would involve: defining medium and short-term policy appreaches, bearing in mind

(<u>General criteria</u>, 4th indent) <u>Leigh-Pemberton</u> notes that there is no commitment to harmonise tax rates and that it is not clear what institution is supposed to be recommending ...

Theresand



(Macro-commit policy) Alternative text proposed by Pohls

² The broad <u>objective</u> of economic policy co-ordination would be to promote growth, employment and external balance in an environment of price stability. For this purpose co-ordination would involve defining a

- 24 -

their economic and social implications; participating in the policy co-ordination with the other areas of the industrial world; setting a multi-year framework for national and Community budgetary policies; managing common policies, particularly with a view to improving structural and regional development; and determining, in close consultation with the ESCB Council, the Community's exchange rate policy.

New <u>procedures</u> would have to be developed. Firstly, they would have to strike a balance between co-ordination through binding rules and discretionary co-ordination adapted to a particular economic situation. Secondly, they would have to cover both horizontal co-ordination - between member countries and the Commission and the Council - and vertical co-ordination between a member country and the Commission.

In this context it would be necessary to develop an effective procedure for joint decision-making in the field of <u>budgetary policy</u>. This would involve:

- the definition of the overall stance of fiscal policy, i.e. the size and the financing of the aggregate budgetary position of all member countries;
- binding rules and collective decisions concerning budget deficits which could be incurred by individual countries;
- strict limits on the maximum permissible access to monetary financing as well as on borrowing in non-Community currencies.]

36. [Relationships and interactions between the existing Community institutions (European Council, Council of Ministers, European Parliament, Commission and Court of Justice) and the European System of Central Banks would have to be defined not only in order to construct a consistent institutional framework, but also to ensure an effective procedure of consultation and co-ordination between budgetary and monetary policies. This should not however, impinge on the policy responsibilities entrusted to each institution. Such consultation procedures could include participation by the President of the Council and the President of the Commission in meetings of the ESCB Council, and participation by the Chairmen of the ESCB Council in meetings of the Council-of-Ministers. An involvement-of-the European Parliament and national parliaments in the co-ordination process could be considered in addition to the role to be medium-term framework for budgetary policy within the economic and monetary union; managing common policies with a view to structural and regional development; determining, in close consultation with the ESCB Council, the Community's exchange rate policy; and participation in policy co-ordination at the international level.

New <u>procedures</u> required for this purpose would have to strike a balance between the reliance of binding rules where necessary to ensure effective implementation and discretionary co-ordination adapted to particular situations.

In particular it would seem necessary to develop procedures and binding rules for <u>budgetary policy</u>, involving to for calle decisions taken by myony;

- the definition of the overall stance of fiscal policy over the medium term, including the size and financing of aggregate budgetary positions in the Community;
- strict limitations on public borrowing, e.g. related to public investment requirements;
- exclusion of access to central bank credit and other monetary financing;
- strict limitation of borrowing in non-Community countries.

(Para. 36) Alternative text proposed by Pohl:

The new Treaty laying down the objectives, features, requirements, procedures and organs of the economic and monetary union would add to the existing Community institutions (European Council, Council of Ministers, European Parliament) Commission and Court of Justice) a new institution of comparable status, the European System of Central Banks. With due respect for the independent status of the ESCB, as defined elsewhere in this Report, appropriate consultation procedures will have to be set up to allow for effective co-ordination between budgetary and monetary policy. To this end, attendance by the President of the Council and the President of the Commission at meetings of the ESCB Council, without power to vote or to block decisions taken in accordance with the rules laid down by the ESCB Council, should be provided for. Equally,

- 25 -

attendance by the Chairman of the ESCB Council at meetings of the Council of Ministers should be provided for, especially on matters relating to budgetary and other policies of relevance to the conduct of monetary policy. Consideration would have to be given to the role of the European Parliament, especially in relation t the authority evolving on the Commission in budgetary matters, where the latter should be accountable to the European Parliament. The same should apply in regard to action, or non-action, taken by the Commission in response to non-compliance of a member country with binding rules or decisions especially in the budgetary field.

- 25a -

(Para. 36) <u>Duisenberg</u> suggests a change similar to that in the second half of <u>Pöhl's</u> proposal.

(Para. 36) <u>Ciampi</u> doubts whether it is wise to make such specific proposals on participation.
played by the Council and the Commission, and the European Parliament could be consulted in advance on the stance of economic policy in the Community. The consultation process should include a yearly joint assessment of the overall economic and monetary situation and prospects, and the formulation of a general policy guideline for the year to come. Moreover, the Council of Ministers and the Commission would submit a report each year to the European Council and the European Parliament on the functioning and the status of the economic and monetary union.]

- 26 -

5. Economic and monetary union in the context of the world economy

37. The realisation of an economic and monetary union would give <u>a</u> <u>more important voice</u> to the Community <u>in international negotiations</u> and enhance its capacity to influence the relations among industrial and developing countries in a wide range of areas such as trade policies, international monetary matters, macro-economic policy concertation and the North-South dialogue.

38. The competence for <u>external trade policy</u> has been attributed to the Community in the Treaty of Rome and the Commission, acting as the Community's spokesman, represents all member countries in multilateral trade negotiations. This role will be strengthened with the completion of the single market which has the potential to stimulate multilateral trade and economic growth at the global level. However, this potential can only be exploited to its full extent in an open trading system, guaranteeing foreign suppliers free access to the Community market and, conversely, exporters from the Community free access to foreign markets. The removal of internal trade barriers within the Community should constitute a step towards a more liberal trading system on a worldwide scale.

39. The creation of a single currency area and, concomitantly, the move to a single monetary policy conducted by the European System of Central Banks will change the role of the Community in <u>international</u> <u>monetary matters</u>. The Community would have to assume a growing responsibility for international monetary developments, both with regard to -more short-term co-operation at the beneficient central banks in interest rate management and exchange market interventions as well as in the search for

LB P24

(Section 5) Leigh-Pemberton suggests to omit this section.

in the field of

be freeze

and

over

solutions to issues relating to the further development of the international monetary system.

40. As economic and monetary union necessitates an effective macro-economic management for the Community as a whole, it would also strengthen the Community's position in the process of <u>international policy</u> <u>concertation</u> among major industrial countries. However, for the Community to play its part in this respect, the arrangements for internal macro-economic policy formulation and implementation would have to be sufficiently flexible, allowing the Community not only to respond effectively to changing economic circumstances in its internal economic situation, but also to be able to co-ordinate policies in a manner satisfactory to both the Community and other major industrial countries.

41. The institutional arrangements which would enable the Community to fulfil the new responsibilities implied by its increased weight in the world economy are partly in place or would be implemented in the process of creating an economic and monetary union. In the area of external trade policies and, to some extent, in the field of co-operation with developing countries, the responsibilities have already been attributed to the Community. With the establishment of the European System of Central Banks the Community would also have created an institution through which it could participate in all aspects of international monetary management. As far as macro-economic policy co-ordination at the international level is concerned, the Community as such is currently represented only at the summit meetings of the major industrial countries. In order to make full use of its position in the world economy and to exert influence on the functioning of the international economic system, the Community would have to be able to speak with one voice. This emphasises the need for an effective mechanism for macro-economic policy co-ordination within the economic and monetary union.

III. Steps towards economic and monetary union

- 28 -

42. After defining the main features of the final setting of economic and monetary union, the Committee has undertaken the "task of studying and proposing concrete stages leading towards this union". In this context the Committee considered the possibility of combining in a first stage measures to-strengthen_convergence-with-a-limited-operational-and-institutional-step preceding more-far-reaching-institutional changes in subsequent stages: The limited_step_would,_as_described_in=para,...65_below,_sinvolve_the_creation_of a~European-Reserve-Fund_in_which_a_certain_amount_of reserves would be proposal_was_not_accepted_by_several_members_of_the_Committee_However, The Committee agreed that the creation of economic and monetary union must be viewed as a process which represents a single entity. Although set out in stages which guide the progressive movement to the final objective, the decision to enter the first stage should be a decision to embark on the entire process. The implementation of the concrete measures proposed for stage one demands a political decision to create an economic and monetary union in Europe and the conclusion of a new Treaty in stage one.

n the margin reference ho what we have

1. Principles governing a step-by-step approach

6

43. In <u>designing a step-by-step approach</u> along the path to economic and monetary union the general principle of subsidiarity, referred to earlier in this Report, as well as a number of further considerations, would have to be taken into account.

44. Discrete but evolutionary steps. The process of implementing economic and monetary union would have to be divided into a limited number of clearly defined stages. Each stage would have to represent a significant change with respect to the preceding one. New arrangements coming into force at the beginning of each stage would gradually develop their effects and bring about a change in economic reality so as to pave the way for the next stage. This evolutionary development would apply to both functional and institutional arrangements.

45. Parallelism. As has been argued in Part II. monetary union without a sufficient degree of convergence of budgetary policies is unlikely to be durable and could be damaging to the Community. Parallel advancement in economic and monetary integration would be indispensable to avoid imbalances which could cause economic strains and loss of political support for further developing the Community into an economic and monetary union. Perfect parallelism at each and every point of time would be impossible and could even be counterproductive. Already in the past the advancement of the Community in certain areas has gone hand in hand with temporary standstill in others, thus involving only partial parallelism. A certain appart of temporary deviations from parallelism is part of the dynamic process of the Community. But bearing in mind the need to achieve a substantial degree of economic union if monetary union is to be successful, and given the degree of monetary co-ordination already achieved, it is clear that material progress on the economic policy front is necessary for further progress on the monetary policy front. Parallelism would have to be maintained in the medium term 🔤 also before proceeding from one stage to 🗙 the next.

- 29 -

46. Legal basis. The Committee has examined the scope for progress in economic and monetary integration under the present legal provisions in force in each member country. This investigation has shown that under present national legislations no member country is able to transfer decision-making power to a Community body, nor is it possible for many countries to participate in arrangements for a binding ex ante co-ordination of policies:/[as a consequence, steps towards economic and monetary-union would have to be confined to mutual-surveillance; analysis of-developments-and-non-binding-co-ordination of policies;

XX

More substantial vertices, permitting collective decision-making even on more limited operational matters - would involve changes in the institutional framework and, as has been pointed out earlier in this Report, necessitate a new Treaty.

47. <u>Calendar</u>. The conditions for moving from stage to stage cannot be defined precisely in advance; nor is it possible to foresee today when these conditions will be realised. The setting of explicit deadlines is therefore not advisable. This observation applies to the passage from stage

Para. 46 is a redraft of standard. 50, preposed-by-the-Rapporteurs. Alternative text for old para. 50 suggested by <u>Andriessen</u>:

in the 2nd Alevel whomas of the Report

132

- 29 -

<u>The Treaty</u>

Jom

note

The Treaty of Rome, as amended by the Single Act lays down the basis for progress towards EMU. It is, however, insufficient for full realisation of EMU. There is at present no transfer of responsibility for economic and monetary policy from member states to the Community. The rules governing the EMS are based on informal agreements of self-restriction by the central banks concerned and are not an integral part of Community legislation. Without a new Treaty, steps towards EMU will be limited to non-binding co-ordination and strengthened co-operation. The process of integration based on a step-by-step approach requires, however, a clear understanding of its content and final objective, its basic functional and institutional arrangements and the provisions governing the gradual implementation. A new political and legal basis is accordingly needed from the outset. A new Treaty would establish not only the objective but also the stages by which it is to be achieved and the procedures and institutions required to move forward at each stage. Within this framework,

the moves forward would take place on the basis of joint appraisals and assessments at each stage along the way. Political agreement would be required for each move to be implemented.

A new Treaty is also required to ensure parallel progress in the economic and in the monetary fields. The appropriate institutional and procedural arrangements to that effect should also be set out in the Treaty.

Last sentence (Para. 48) Pöhl suggests redraft (on the basis of old para. 50) of the partin brackets, to become a new paragraph:

XX

64

As a consequence, one approach would be to provide for new concrete steps towards economic and monetary union that would initially be confined to measures designed to strengthen co-operation, mutual surveillance, analysis of current developments and prospects, and non-binding co-ordination of policies until such time when preparation and ratification of a new Treaty is considered appropriate. In the monetary field, the Committee of Central Bank Governors should be called upon to proceed accordingly; in the economic field, the existing Community institutions would be instructed likewise. A new Directive by the Council would define the objectives to be pursued and the detailed steps to be taken without institutional change.

one to stage two and, most importantly, to the move to irrevocably fixed exchange rates. The timing of both moves would have to be decided by the Council. the Commission and the European System of Central Banks in the light of the experience made in the preceding stage. However, there should be a clear indication of the timing of the first stage, which would start no later than 1st July 1990 when the Directive for the full liberalisation -of-capital movements comes into force.

Toreover On the other hand, a firm political commitment to the final stage, as described in Part II of the Report, would appear to be an indispensable precondition for lending credibility to the decision to embark on the first stage. The strongest expression of such a commitment, wend decision by the highest political authorities to enter HINGE would be a new Treaty, would be a

48. Participation. There is one Community, but not all the members have participated fully in all its aspects from the beginning. So far-this has mainly been the consequence of successive enlargements and, for the EMS-the-fact-that-some countries have not vet taken the decision-to-join the exchange rate mechanism. [A consensus on the final objectives of the Community, as well as participation in the same set of institutions, should be maintained, while allowing for a degree of flexibility concerning the data on which some member countries would join certain arrangements. Rending the full participation of all member countries - which is of prime importance - the management of each set of arrangements would have to be the responsibility of those who participate fully in it. However, this management would have to keep in view the need to facilitate the integration of the other members.]

2. The ecu

and

conditions

49. The Committee investigated various aspects of the role that the ecu might play in the process of economic and monetary integration in Europe.

50. Firstly, the Committee examined the role of the ecu in connection with an eventual move to a single currency. Although a monetary union does not necessarily require a single currency, political and psychological

(Para. 47, 2nd sub-para.) Leigh-Pemberton suggests redraft of second

to pore

sub-para. of para. 47:

- 30 -

P28 + 0

1,27.5

On the other hand, a clear political commitment to the final stage, as described in Part II of the Report, would lend credibility to the intention that the measures which constitute stage one should represent not just a useful end in themselves but a firm first step on the road towards economic and monetary union. The clearest demonstration of such a political commitment would be the co-ordinated implementation of economic policy measures in each member state to secure price stability and convergence of economic performance within the existing institutional framework and the full participation of all member states in the exchange rate mechanism of the EMS. Given that background commitment by the political authorities, in good time before entering stage two, to enter into the negotiation of a new Treaty would have added significance.

(Para. 47, last sentence) Hoffmeyer (supported by Doyle) suggests to replace last sentence of para. 47 by:

It would be a strong expression of such a commitment if all members of the Community became full members of the EMS in the course of stage one and undertook the obligation to formulate a convergent economic policy within the existing institutions. Similarly, it would be highly significant if the political authorities in good time before entering stage two committed themselves to enter into negotiations of a new Treaty.

(Para 47. 2nd sub-para.) Addition_between_brackets_suggested_brackets_ Larosière, rugsuch to unend the light (unbences to acod: i' to early immuchicles into resolvations

(Para. 48) Doyle suggests to insert before the sentence starting with xa "Pending ..." the following text:

P29 L64.5/

Tima, please align with pore 40?

- 30 -

/ Nevertheless, an undertaking to participate in the exchange rate mechanism of the EMS by a specified date should be given at the time when member states formally commit themselves to the objective of economic and monetary union.

- 30a -

(Para 48) <u>Alternative text proposed by Leigh-Pemberton</u>:

V

The Committee therefore considered the possibility that some member states might take institutional steps in the direction of EMU before others were able to do so. It formed the unanimous opinion that any such discriminatory approach, which would in any event have to be outside the framework of the Treaty of Rome, would be divisive and would put at risk the existing fabric of the European Communities.

(Section 2) The section on the ecu has been redrafted in the light of comments received in writing and the suggestions made at the last meeting.

P30 L30.5

reasons suggest that a single currency would be a desirable feature of a monetary union. The Committee was [of the opinion that the ecu has the potential to] be developed into such a common currency. This would imply that the ecu are a basked of currencies would be transformed into a genuine *[from* currency. Private agents should be assured that there would be no discontinuity between the present ecu and the single currency of the union and that ecu obligations would be payable at face value in ecu if the transition to the single currency had been made at the time of the maturity of the contract.

- 31 -

51. Secondly, the Committee considered the possibility of adopting a parallel currency strategy as a way to accelerate the pace of the monetary union process. According to this approach the definition of the ecu as a basket of currencies would be abandoned at an early stage and the new fully-fledged currency, called ecu, would be created autonomously and issued in addition to the existing Community currencies. The new ecu would be a parallel currency in the sense that it circulated alongside national currencies and competed with them. The proponents of this strategy expect that the gradual crowding-out of national currencies by the ecu would make it possible to circumvent the institutional and economic difficulties of establishing a monetary union. The Committee felt that this strategy is not to be recommended for two main reasons. Firstly, an additional source of money creation without a precise linkage to economic activity could jeopardise price stability. Secondly, the addition of a new currency, subject to an independent monetary policy, would further complicate the already difficult endeavour of co-ordinating different national monetary policies.

52. Thirdly, the Committee examined possibilities for using the official ecu as an instrument <u>in the conduct of a common monetary policy</u>. The main features of a possible scheme in the Annex. (A number of members of the Committee felt that such a proposal might be one possible way of preparing the ground for a common monetary policy in the course of the second stage. Other members of the Committee felt this was neither adequate nor appropriate as a solution to the problem of ensuring equivalent monetary policies in the diverse monetary frameworks of two we member states.)

the

(Para. 50) <u>Ciampiessee remarks on para. 24</u>. Nobes that ob the February meeting agreement head been reached on the formulation " the Ecce phonetal olevelaps..." In chood of "the Ecce hes the pobulat bo develops...."

Leigh-Pemberton-suggests wording between brackets

- 32 there should not be discrimination against the

53. Fourthly, the Committee agreed that <u>voluntary use of the ecu by</u> the private sector should not be discriminated against and that existing obstacles should be removed.

3. The principal steps in stage one

54. Stage one represents the <u>entry into the process</u> of creating economic and monetary union. It would aim at a greater convergence of economic performance through the strengthening of economic and monetary policy co-ordination within the existing institutional framework. It would are involve the preparation of a new Treaty which would provide the necessary basis for implementing stage two.

. 55. <u>In the economic field</u> the steps would centre on the completion of the internal market and the reduction of existing disparities through programmes of budgetary consolidation for countries concerned and more effective structural and regional policies. In particular, there would be action in three directions.

Firstly, there would be a complete removal of barriers within the Community, according to the internal market programme. The completion of the internal market would be accompanied by a strengthening of Community competition policy.

Secondly, the reform and doubling of the structural funds would be fully implemented in order to enhance the ability of Community policies to promote regional development and to correct economic imbalances.

[Thirdly, the 1974_Council Decision-on-economic_convergence_would be-replaced by a new procedure that would considerably strengthen—the possibilities for constraining budgetary imbalances, as well as for assessing the consequences and the consistency of the overall policies of the member states: [Co-ordination would be based on recommendations and carried out taking due account of the views of the Committee of Governors.]» In particular, the revised 1974 Decision on convergence would:

> establish a process of multilateral surveillance of economic developments and policies based on agreed indicators. Where performances are judged inadequate or detrimental to commonly set objectives, recommendations and policy consultations would take

> > <1 N

34 (A') - how P

-(Para. 55, 4th-sub-para. starting with "Thirdly...") <u>Doyle</u> suggests to -amend first sentence-as-follows:

- 32 -

Thirdly, the 1974 Council Decision on economic convergence would be replaced by a new procedure that would considerably strengthen economic and fiscal policy co-ordination and would, in addition, provide a comprehensive framework for an assessment of the consequences and consistency of the overall policies of member states. On the basis of this assessment, recommendations would be made aimed at achieving a more effective co-ordination of economic policies, taking due account of the views of the Committee of Governors. The task of economic policy co-ordination should be the primary responsibility of the ECOFIN Council, whose discussions would be prepared by the Committee of Governors and the Monetary Committee

of Economic and Finance Ministers (ECOFIN)

Consistency between monetary and economic policies would be facilitated by the attendance of central bank governors at appropriate Council meetings.

- 32a -

(Para 55, 4th sub-para., second last sentence starting with "Corordination ...") <u>Ciampi</u> points out that there is a risk of encroaching on the competences of other bodies.

place at the Community level with the aim of promoting the necessary corrections in national policies;

- 33 -

- set up a new procedure for budgetary policy co-ordination, with increasingly precise quantitative guidelines and medium-term orientations;

[- provide for the possibility of promoting, where deemed appropriate, concerted budgetary action by the member countries.]

56. <u>In the monetary field</u> focus would be placed on removing all obstacles to financial integration and intensifying co-operation and co-ordination of monetary policies. In this connection consideration could be given to extending the scope of central banks' independent actions **first** this possible under the constraint of unchanged legislation. Realignments of exchange rates would still be possible, but an effort would be made by every country to make the functioning of other adjustment mechanisms more effective. Actions would develop along several lines.

Firstly, through the approval and enforcement of the necessary Community Directives, the objective of a single financial space in which all monetary and financial instruments circulate freely and banking, securities and insurance services are offered uniformly throughout the area would be fully implemented.

Secondly, [it would be important to include all Community currencies in the EMS exchange rate mechanism.] The same rules would apply to all the participants of the exchange rate mechanism.

Thirdly, all impediments to the private use of the ecu would be removed.

Fourthly, the 1964 Council Decision defining the mandate of the Committee of Central Bank Governors would be replaced by a new Decision giving the Committee greater prominence and a stronger voice in the economic policy making process of the Community and its member states. To this end, the Committee of Governors would:

opinions

- formulate <u>freecommendations</u>] on the overall orientation of monetary and exchange rate policy, as well as on measures taken in these fields by individual countries. In particular, the Committee would be consulted in advance of national decisions on (Para 55, 3rd indent) Leigh-Pemberton suggests to omit the tiret between, brackets.

P33 L18.5

(Para 56, 3rd sub-para.) Pöhl and Doyle suggest to rephrase the sentence

"all Community currencies should be included in the EMS exchange rate

indent) Rohl suggests to replace "recommendations" by

avec

55

between brackets:

mechanism".

(Para. 56 "opinions" the course of monetary policy, such as the setting of annual domestic monetary and credit targets;

- 34 -

- make policy recommendations to individual governments and the Council of Ministers on policies that could affect the internal and external monetary situation in the Community, especially the functioning of the EMS. The outcome of the Committee's deliberations could be made public by the Chairman of the Committee;
- submit an annual report on its activities and on the monetary situation of the Community to the European Council and the European Parliament.

The Committee's opinions and accommodations would not have to reflect unanimity and would not be binding. In order to make its policy co-ordination function more effective, the Committee would appropriately strengthen the research and advisory role of three sub-committees and provide them with a permanent research staff:

- a monetary policy committee would define common surveillance instruments, propose harmonised objectives and instruments and help to gradually induce a change-over from ex post analysis to an ex ante approach to monetary policy co-operation;
- a foreign exchange policy committee would monitor and analyse exchange market developments and assist in the search for effective intervention strategies;
- an advisory committee would hold regular consultations on matters of common interest in the field of banking supervision, policy.

Ĵ

The responsibilities and procedures of the Monetary Committee would be enhanced in parallel with the Committee of Central Bank Governors.

X

57. In the institutional field this stage would involve the preparation and ratification of the Treaty on the economic and monetary union, with a procedure similar to the one followed for the Single European Act.

(Para. 56, 6th sub-para.) Alternative wording to the part between brackets proposed by <u>de Larosière</u>

The members of the Committee of Governors have decided to reinforce the existing committees of experts and to support them by a permanent research staff. It is therefore essential at this very first stage to create an appropriately strong research structure and advisory function in the fields of monetary policy, foreign exchange policy and banking supervision.

P31

"In the institutional field, by the time of transition to stage two, it

at a time to be decided in the light of progress made in the integration

(Pare 5%), last sentence;

process in stage one.

(Para 57) Leigh-Pemberton suggests deletion or redrafting:

would be necessary to prepare and ratify the Treaty".

(Para ()) Pöhl suggests to add at the end:

LUU

naje 32 58. A number of Committee members advocated the creation of a <u>European Reserve Fund (ERF)</u> that would foreshadow the future European System of Central Banks. The main objectives of the ERF would be:

- 35 -

- to serve as a training ground for implementing a better co-ordination of monetary analysis and decisions;
- to facilitate, from a Community point of view, the concerted management of exchange rates and possibly to intervene visibly (in third and participating currencies) on the foreign exchange market upon request of the participating central banks;
- to be the symbol of the political will of the European countries and therefore reinforce the credibility of the process towards economic and monetary union.

The resources of the Fund would be provided by a pooling of a limited amount of reserves (for instance 10% at the start) by participating central banks and require a permanent structure and staff in order to achieve its tasks, i.e.:

- management of the pooled reserves;
- interventions on the exchange markets decided by the members;
- analysing, from a collective perspective, monetary trends in order to enhance policy co-ordination.

All EC central banks would be eligible to join the Fund. However, membership would be subject to their participation in the exchange rate mechanism, the reason being that the EMS implies specific constraints on monetary policy and foreign exchange interventions that both require a common approach of the central bank concerned.

The management of the ERF would consist of:

- a Board of Directors which would comprise automatically the Governors of each central bank participating in the ERF;
- an Executive Committee whose members would be selected by the Committee of Governors on the basis of competence. This Executive Committee would be of a small size, consisting of three or four

(Para 58) Leigh-Pemberton suggests deletion of full para. or shortening it to include only the first twelve lines.

members who would have direct responsibility for the different departments of the ERF;

- the three Committees: a Foreign Exchange Policy and a Monetary Policy Committee and a committee on banking supervision (policy)
- two departments: a Foreign Exchange and Reserves Management Department, and a Monetary Policy Department.

59. Other members of the Committee felt that the creation of a ERF was not opportune at this stage. Their reservations stem from the fact that:

- 36 -

- too much emphasis is placed on external considerations; common interventions by such a Fund cannot be a substitute for economic adjustment to correct imbalances within the Community;
- the proposal involves an institutional change which, in accordance with Article 102A of the amended Treaty of Rome, would fall under the procedure stipulated in Article 236 and require a new Treaty; the setting-up of the Fund under the same procedures as were applied to the establishment of the EMS are not considered possible;

they consider that some functions of the Fund could be performed by the Committee of Governors if it were given wider powers; thus, there is no need to set up immediately a new institution;
what in the view of these members is essential is co-ordination of intervention policies rather than the technique of common interventions. This co-ordination can provide the necessary training ground while avoiding the unnecessary complication caused by instituting an additional intervention window.

4. The principal steps in stage two

60. The <u>second stage</u> could begin only when the new Treaty had come into force. [For essentially two reasons it is difficult to describe already_now-in-precise detail-the-steps which will-have-to-be-taken-in-this stage. Firstly, there are some basic-technical problems in designing_steps when the final authority over decision-making rests with national authorities secondly, the type of concrete measures to be implemented in

(Para. 60) Idea expressed by the part between brackets-was-suggested Lamfalussy.

similar (

very

Duisenbera

(Para. 59, last indent) Wording proposed by

wording proposed by Pöhl.

from p 39

this stage will depend to a significant extent on what will have been achieved in the preceding stage _____Stage two must therefore be seen as a period of transition to the final stage and is thus characterised primarily by a training process leading to a collective decision-making, but without yet abandoning the ultimate responsibility for policy decisions at the national level. If stage two were conceived to last for a long-period or if it were enacted without a clear understanding regarding a subsequent move_to_full_economic_and_monetary_union__the-provisions-of-stage-two-would have to be designed differently-

- 37 -

61. In the economic field the Council, the Commission and the European Parliament would reinforce their action along three lines.

Firstly, with regard to the single market and competition policy the results attained through the implementation of the single market programme would be reviewed and, wherever needed, made more effective.

Secondly, an evaluation of the performance of structural and regional policies would be made and a new programme would be adopted. The resources for supporting the structural policies of the member states would be enlarged. Community investment programmes in research and infrastructure would be strengthened.

Thirdly, in the area of macro-economic policy, the provisions set up in the first stage through the revision of the 1974 Decision on convergence would be further strengthened (by the adoption of aguidelines decided by a majority. Under this procedure the Community would: when be adapted

- set a medium-term framework for key economic objectives with a follow-up procedure for monitoring performances and intervening when significant deviations occurred;
- set progressively more precise although not yet binding rules relating to the size of budget deficits and their financing; The Commission should have the responsibility to bring before the Council any non-compliance by member states and should propose action as necessary;]---
- assume a more active role as a single entity in the discussion of questions arising in the economic and exchange rate field, on the basis of its present representation (through the member states or

precise operations proceedings to be applied a two lowned be developed in the high of previume there were (Um pres Cr. a himed in intrance. can at han 2 concurrie

(Para 60) Leigh-Pemberton suggests to delete the sentence between brackets.

The Course's of Orine, bus the Monchan Committee and the Committian, being this other on the second · · · be

(Para 61 and sub-para.) Leigh Pemberton suggests to defete the sentencebetween brackets.

ularman on the basis of the new Treeby. and

Pohen

(Para 61-2nd indent) Addition between brackets suggested by Pöhl) Duisenberg

the Commission) in the various fora for international policy co-ordination.

- 38 -

62. <u>In the monetary field</u> the European System of Central Banks having all the principal features described in Part II of the Report would be set up and would absorb the previously existing institutional monetary arrangements (the EMCF, the Committee of Governors, the sub-committees for monetary policy analysis, foreign exchange policy and banking supervision, and the permanent Secretariat). The most important feature of this stage would be that the functions of the ESCB in the formulation and operation of a common monetary policy would gradually evolve as experience was gained. Exchange rate realignments would not be excluded as an instrument of adjustment, but there would be an understanding that they would be made only in exceptional circumstances and that the frequency and the extent of realignments should be steadily reduced. Some possible schemes for co-ordinating monetary policies in the course of this stage are discussed in the Annexes to the Report.

Initially the ESCB framework fould be used as a joint facility to be shared by national central banks for implementing national monetary policy through operations in domestic and foreign exchange markets; as a centre for monitoring and analysing domestic monetary conditions and foreign exchange market developments; as a centre for the co-ordination of national monetary policies.

[In addition, a number of actions would be taken in stage two. [Eirstly, a certain amount of exchange reserves would be pooled and would be used to conduct limited exchange market interventions in accordance with guidelines established by the ESCB Council. Such guidelines would be determined by majority voting according to rules to be specified.]

 F_{i} , M_{p} secondly, general monetary targets would be set for the Community as a whole, with an understanding that national monetary policy would be executed in accordance with these global guidelines. The general monetary targets would be set by the ESCB Council on the basis of a majority decision. Junctu

Thisdly, while the ultimate responsibility for monetary policy decisions would remain in the hands of national authorities, the operational framework necessary for deciding and implementing a common monetary policy would be created and experimented with. In this context L12.5 (Para 62, 3rd sub-para.) <u>Pöhl</u> suggests complete deletion of the rest of the paragraph (starting with "In addition, ...").

138 LU2.5

6

X

132

plan

- 38 -

Tina, phone dure thirdly

(Para 62, 4th sub-para.) <u>Duisenberg</u> suggests the deletion of the sub-para. between brackets (starting with "Firstly, ...").

(Para 62, 3rd sub-para.) <u>Thygesen</u> (supported by <u>Ciampi</u>) suggests redraft starting with "In addition, ..."):

In addition, a certain number of actions would be taken in stage two. They would be designed to give the new institution visible means of influencing the overall rate of money and credit expansion in the participating countries as well as the ability to conduct limited exchange market interventions against third currencies. They would also comprise the attribution of regulatory functions to the ESCB in the monetary and banking

field in order to achieve minimum harmonisation of provisions such as reserve requirements or payments arrangements that are necessary to the conduct of a common monetary policy.

- 38a -

Intermediate monetary objectives would be set for the Community as a whole, derived from the ultimate objective of medium-term price stability, and underpinned by objectives for national contributions to aggregate money creation and a presumption that participating central banks would refrain from offsetting the monetary consequences of interventions in other participating currencies.

Incentives for individual central banks to stay close to commonly agreed objectives would be provided through a mechanism which would sanction deviations. This could be done most directly and with the prospect of gradual evolution towards collective monetary control in stage three, by linking the money creation by each central bank to its ability to satisfy reserve requirements vis-à-vis the ESCB in analogy to one method by which national central banks exert influence on the rate of credit expansion of their banking system.

Various methods of applying such a system to the capacity of national central banks to create money are explored as illustrations in the Annex. They all rest on the basic notion that the ESCB would be in a position to control fully the supply of the asset which the central banks have to hold to meet the reserve requirements. This asset could take the form of a unit, defined as the present ecu; it would be supplied by the ESCB in quantities matching the demand for reserves which would arise, if each country followed its collectively targeted rate of money or credit expansion. The interest rate on the reserve asset would reflect the degree of scarcity of required reserves which the ESCB wishes to produce. The system might subsequently be extended to apply to individual banks, but in stage two could be confined to the relationship between the ESCB and the central banks.

The advantage of attributing an instrument of this type to the ESCB is that it would give focus to the operational efforts of the new institution. It would introduce in a limited, but significant sphere, a hierarchy in the relations of the ESCB to the component central banks while respecting the autonomy of the latter in managing their respective short-term instruments to preserve interest differentials conducive to exchange market stability. ithe ESCB could be used

for example,

-volvia

'eeus-issuad=by the ESCB could bo-used-as reserve instruments The decision on_the_amount of ecu_reserves to be-issued could-be-made on the basis of a majority decision. But Under the experimental scheme the minimum reserve requirement would not be compulsory. This scheme is described in greaterdetail in the_Annex-to-this-Report.

- 39 -

Fourthly, regulatory functions would be exerted by the ESCB in the monetary and banking field in order to achieve a minimum harmonisation of provisions (such as reserve requirements or payments arrangements) necessary for the future conduct of a common monetary policy.

Fifthly, the margins of fluctuation within the ERM would be narrowed as a move towards the final stage of the monetary union, in which they would be reduced-to_zero.]

-this was have tional-field the basic organs and structure of the economic and monetary union would be set up in-accordance with the Treaty, involving both the revision of existing institutions and the establishment of new ones. In this context, it might be appropriate to rationalise the existing=roles=of=the=Monetary=Committee=and=the=Economic=Policy=Committee with respect to the Councid of Ministers. The institutional framework would gradually take over operational functions, serve as the centre for monitoring and analysing macro-economic developments and promote a process of common decision-making, although_the_ultimate_policy_responsibility would still remain in the hands of the national authorities However as stage two represents a learning process allowing the Community to gain. experience-with-operating_in_a_new_institutional_setting_and_to_approach progressively=the=conditions=of=economic_and_monetary_union, it would be crucial that certain operational decisions were made by majority. [In-orderto ensure that this would not imply a relinquishment of national policy autonomy-the adoption of a majority decision would have to be confined either_to-the-use-of-instruments whose impact on economic_developments is negligible or to decisions which do not hinder national authorities.]

5. <u>The principal steps in stage three</u>

64. The <u>final stage</u> would commence with the move to irrevocably locked exchange rates and the attribution to Community institutions of the full monetary and economic competences described in Part II of this Report. (Para. 62, 7th sub-para.) <u>Duisenberg</u> suggests to add (before "Fourthly, ..."?): Any majority decision by the ESCB presupposes action by member states to ensure that central bank governors in their position as members of the ESCB Council should act independent of their government.

(Para. 63) Leigh-Pemberton suggests to delete this sentence.

36

· 5.

In the course of the final stage the national currencies would eventually be replaced by the ecu as the Community's sole currency.

- 40 -

٠

65. In the economic field the transition to this final stage would be marked by three developments.

Firstly, there would be a further strengthening of structural and regional policies of the Community. Instruments and resources would be adapted to the needs of the economic and monetary union.

Secondly, the rules and procedures of the Community in the macro-economic and budgetary field would assume a binding character.

In particular, the Council of Ministers and the Commission, Junder the control of the European Parliament, would have the authority to take directly enforceable decisions, i.e.:

- to impose constraints on national budgets to the extent to which this is necessary to prevent imbalances that may threaten monetary stability;
- to make discretionary changes (through a procedure to be defined) in Community resources to supplement structural transfers to member states or to influence the overall policy stance in the Community;
- to decide discretionary changes (through a procedure to be defined) in the level of harmonised taxation rates;]
- to apply some form of conditionality to existing Community structural policies and to Community loans (as a substitute for the present medium-term loans facility) & themas much can all

Thirdly, the Community would assume its full role in the process of international policy co-operation and a new form of representation in arrangements for international policy co-ordination and in internal monetary negotiations would be adopted.

66. In the monetary field the irrevocable locking of exchange rates would come into effect and the transition to a single monetary policy would be made, with the ESCB assuming all its responsibilities as foreseen in the Treaty and described in Part II. In particular:

(Para. 65, 4th sub-para.) Amendment-in brackets suggested by Pöhl.

(Para. 65, 3rd indent) Leigh-Pemberton suggests to omit the tiret between

that prompt men bei construction , to internet their adjustment ellerts

brackets.

- concurrent with the announcement of irrevocable fixing of parities between the Community currencies, the formulation and implementation of monetary policy in the Community would be transferred to the ESCB, with its Council and Board exercising their statutory functions;
- decisions on exchange market interventions in third currencies would be made under the sole responsibility of the ESCB Council in accordance with Community exchange rate policy; the execution of interventions would be entrusted either to national central banks or the European System of Central Banks;
- technical and regulatory work would be done to prepare the transition to the ecu as single currency of the Community.

The change-over to the single currency would take place during this stage.

In the institutional field there would be the full attribution of to Community institutions, as foreseen in the P competences

tran proje 28, i.e. olde per 46

6. <u>One or several Treaties</u>

68. The Committee has not investigated in detail the possible approaches under which the objective of economic and monetary union and its implementation would be embodied in the new Treaty. There would be basically two options. One procedure would be to conclude <u>a new Treaty for each stage</u>. The advantage of this procedure would be that it would explicitly reaffirm the political consensus at each stage and would allow for modification of the form the following stage should take in the light of experience with the current stage. At the same time, this approach would be unwieldy and slow, it might not safeguard sufficiently the overall consistency of the process and it would carry the risk that progress in parallel between the monetary and non-monetary sides would not be respected. In any event, if this procedure were chosen it would be crucial that the first Treaty laid down clearly the principal features of the ultimate objective of economic and monetary union.

69. Alternatively, it could be decided to conclude <u>a single</u> <u>comprehensive Treaty</u> formulating the essential features and institutional arrangements of economic and monetary union and the steps in which it could be achieved. Such a Treaty should indicate the procedures by which the decision would be taken to move from stage to stage. Each move would require an appraisal of the situation and a decision by the European Council.

- 42 -

7. Suggested follow-up procedure

70. If the European Council can accept this report as a basis for the further development towards economic and monetary union, the following procedure is suggested.

71. The Council and the Committee of Governors are invited to take the decisions necessary to implement the first stage.

72. The competent Community bodies are invited to make concrete proposals on the basis of this Report concerning the second and the final stage, to be subsequently embodied in a revised Treaty. These proposals should contain a further elaboration and concretisation where necessary of the present Report. They should serve as the basis for future negotiations on a revised Treaty in an intra-governmental conference to be called for by the European Council.

73. In following this procedure, negotiations on a revised Treaty will take place on a basis which will [already have been agreed as far as possible in substance by] those immediately responsible in member countries. At the same time, progress in policy co-ordination in the first stage as well as implementation of the internal market is allowed to create a momentum favourable for the negotiations.

74. The decision to let the revised Treaty come into force will be taken with due regard to the results achieved in the first stage.

PU1 127.5

69-70

WI

(Section 7) Text proposed by <u>Duisenberg</u> (a very similar proposal has also been made by <u>Pöhl</u>).

(Paras. 72-73) <u>Ciampi</u> proposes to amend these paras. to make the procedures more direct.

(Para. 72) <u>de Larosière</u> suggests redraft:

Simultaneously it is decided to launch a negotiation on a revised Treaty in an intra-governmental conference to be called for by the Heads of State. In the framework of this negotiation, the competent Community bodies will make concrete proposals on the basis of this Report concerning the second and the final stage. These proposals will be embodied with the appropriate legal considerations in the revised Treaty.

(Para. 73) <u>de Larosière</u> suggests to replace the part in brackets by "involve".

(Para. 74) <u>Ciampi</u> suggests omission.

- Amedmuch In carpore hear - Doolling loggetimes In she at leit

Mich et leit meeting hard notial in previan, abreft (at the moi)

Communes

I. The present state of and perspectives for economic and monetary integration in the Community

1. Introduction

1. Efforts in the Community to progress towards full economic and monetary integration began in earnest as the Bretton Woods system was breaking up. The Werner Report on the realisation by stages of economic and monetary union was drawn up in 1970. This initiative took place against the background of the major achievements by the Community in the 1960s: the completion of the transition period leading to customs union, the setting up of the common agricultural policy and the creation of a system of own resources. The Werner Report presented a first attempt to define and set out a plan for the attainment of economic and monetary union.

Several important institutional moves followed the Werner Report: in 1972 the "Snake" was created; in 1973 the European Monetary Co-operation Fund (EMCF) was set up; and in 1974 the Council Decision on the attainment of a high degree of convergence in the Community and the Directive on stability, growth and full employment were adopted. Yet, by the mid-1970s the perception had grown that the process of integration had lost momentum under the pressure from the divergent policy reactions to the economic crises occurring at the time.

2. In 1979 the process of monetary integration was relaunched with the creation of the European Monetary System (EMS) and the ecu. The success of the EMS in promoting its objectives of internal and external monetary stability laid the foundations for the new impetus to European integration in recent years, as reflected in the adoption, in 1985, of the internal market programme and the signing of the Single European Act.

The fact that the internal market process is now well under way proves that the Community has been able to overcome the serious problems of the 1970s and has coped with the enlargements resulting from the accession of new member countries. The idea_of economic and monetary union has been revived now that the Community has put its house in order and resolved the most urgent budgetary and policy issues. The Community is once more progressing along_the-path-of-economic-and-monetary-integration.

Ciempi: Limit Put I to encature purpose, not too much detal an In his hance aire of the present cuibication Indea war

oursless, repetition, the lung in 4, 7, 4, 13-18

Pole

Pole Me indicates ____ istachling (L-P) ale lar a works to here pare 2?

2. <u>The European Monetary System and the adjustment of the European</u> economy

- 2 -

3. The European Monetary System was created by a Resolution of the European Council followed by a Decision of the Council of Ministers and an Agreement between the participating central banks. The progress made by the Community in the 1980s towards price stability, growing monetary co-operation and greater economic integration owed much to the EMS.

4. Within the framework of the EMS the participants in the Exchange Rate Mechanism (ERM) have succeeded in creating a zone of increasing monetary stability while gradually relaxing capital controls. This achievement was particularly remarkable in a period in which the world economy was shaken by wide exchange rate fluctuations and tensions in trade relationships. The exchange rate constraint has greatly helped -ehe participating countries in gearing their monetary policy towards the objective of price stability, thereby laying the foundations for both a converging price performance at a low rate of inflation and the attainment of a high degree of exchange rate stability. The greater priority attached to a policy of monetary stability has promoted a moderation in cost increases in many countries and led to an improvement in the overall economic performance. Moreover, the reduced uncertainty about exchange rate developments and the fact that the parities of the participating currencies were not allowed to depart significantly from the fundamental economic factors have facilitated and strengthened (intra-European trade, even Lat times of severe economia difficulties and high unemployment.

The EMS has served as the focal point for improved monetary policy co-ordination and provided a basis for multilateral surveillance within the Community. Its success is in part attributable to the willingness of countries to opt for a strong currency policy stance, but also to the flexible and pragmatic way in which the System has been managed. The EMS has evolved in response to changes in the economic and financial environment and on two occasions (Palermo 1986 and Basle/Nyborg 1987) its mechanism has been amended and improved without changing its institutional setting.

Kee sub-pour to be address

The exchange vote conthraine may have neale this more aliftically for some other combine, e.g. low in flation contractive like annuary, (Pohe)

to protection me apainil excercice exchange where usedet hits (2020)

Re

Dore

Tespecially by the increasingly close cooperation hebuen andre banks. The system has also beachther from the cole essence by he of ta participantes' montany and the hermation publicity, C. Pole)

5. An important element in the launching of the European Monetary System was the <u>creation of the ecu</u>. In establishing the EMS, the European Council declared in 1978 that "a European currency unit (ecu) will be at the centre of the EMS". Apart from being used as the numeraire of the exchange rate mechanism and as a denominator for operations in both the intervention and credit mechanisms, the ecu serves primarily as a reserve asset and a means of settlement for EMS central banks. To fulfil this latter function a stock of official ecus has been created through revolving swap arrangements whereby participating central banks maintain 20% of their gold and dollar reserves with the European Monetary Co-operation Fund. Although it is an integral part of the EMS, and despite a number of measures to improve its usability, the ecu has been for a stock only a limited role in the operating mechanisms of the EMS.

- 3 -

By contrast, the ecu has gained remarkable popularity in' the market place, where its use as a denomination for financial transactions has spread significantly. A wide set of ecu instruments is now available for investors, both at the short and at the long end of the market. In international banking the ecu is at present the sixth most important currency of denomination and it ranks fifth in international bond issues, with a 6% market share. The growing use of the ecu_reflects in part the interest of public-sector borrowers in developing and tapping the market for-ecu-securities, but to an important extent it must also be attributed to the ecu's attractiveness as a means of portfolio diversification and as a hedge against currency risks. Moreover, the creation of an ecu clearing system two years ago, in which more than thirty commercial banks now participate, has contributed to the development and the liquidity of the ecu market. In the non-financial sphere, however, the use of the ecu for the invoicing and settlement of commercial transactions remains limited, covering at present only about 1% of the Community countries' external trade. Nonetheless, opinion polls, especial-by-among-firms, tend to show an increasing interest in the potential uses of the ecu.

3. The Single European Act and the internal market programme

6. On the economic side, a "relaunching" of Europe began in the mid-1980s, supported by the success of the EMS. The central element in this process was the proposal, made in January 1985 by the Commission, to

de las: hour down developments regarding privele ecu

ty for a number of outions (Poll) One relion is that computing duburuntum and the > linited - up of intrumbur balances to be cettered in ECM her accordingly because to inter antipuese the incoestingly because to inter margness that we have in molecup the use of particular a previles the Work (Pole)

community institutions (e.s. E13) how played on imposted vola in production and are of the Ecu as a demonstration for their eleber destruction, as have public on theory of centure Community members, CPothe)

Por

Pole: prefaring declahe the cash of this feeling L-P: rich caned be amilled

realise the objective of a market without internal frontiers by 1993. The essence of the measures for the removal of physical, technical and fiscal barriers was set out in a White Paper, which specified the precise programme, timetable and methods for creating a unified economic area in which persons, goods, services and capital will be able to move freely. This objective, together with the necessary institutional steps, was embodied in December 1985 in the <u>Single European Act</u> which marked the first significant revision of the Treaty of Rome.

7. The Single European Act signalled three important changes in the Community's strategy for advancing in the integration process. Firstly, it incorporated an institutional reform aimed at establishing a faster. more efficient and more democratic decision-making process, which was considered to be indispensable for reaching the goal of a common unrestricted market. In particular, this reform extended the scope of qualified majority voting and thereby removed the constraints inherent in the permanent search for consensus which had hampered the decision-making process in the past and gave the European Parliament a greater role in the legislative process. Secondly, it greatly simplified the requirements of harmonising national law by limiting harmonisation to the essential standards and by systematic adoption of mutual recognition of national norms and regulations. This new approach to market integration represented a decisive and innovative move towards deregulation and lesser public sector intervention in economic activity. Thirdly, with the Single European Act the member countries reaffirmed - and recognised in the context of the Treaty of Rome - the need to strengthen the Community's economic and social cohesion, to enhance the Community's monetary capacity in the perspective of economic and monetary union, to reinforce the Community's scientific and technological basis, to harmonise working conditions with respect to health and safety standards. to promote the dialogue between management and labour, and to initiate action to protect the environment.

8. <u>Considerable progress</u> has been made over the last three years in implementing the internal market programme. This highlights a marked change of pace in approaching a unified market, as compared to the developments during the previous two decades.

de las: ound 7 ho 8 h high her her her

Pate

The realisation of the internal market by 1993 involves the adoption of some 300 Directives. In view of the time required for them to be transposed into national legislation. the bulk of the Community's legislative work should be completed by the end of 1990. In three years the Commission has presented 90% of the proposals for the Directives concerned and the Council has adopted around one-half. Rapid and significant progress has been made in removing technical barriers relating to machines, materials, foodstuffs, public works and supply contracts, sea, air and road transport and in achieving mutual recognition of diplomas. The abolition of fiscal barriers and physical barriers has so far advanced less quickly. The most prominent, and certainly one of the most important, steps towards the single market is the Directive on the liberalisation of capital movements which was adopted within six months and which will come into force on 1st July 1990. Another step in the direction of greater financial integration was the adoption of the Directive establishing the freedom to provide insurance services for industrial risks. This Directive applies the principle of mutual recognition.

Pile

- 5 -

9. The creation of a single market is, however, not based solely on the elimination of physical, technical and fiscal barriers but also comprises an improved <u>competition policy</u> to avoid market segmentation through restrictive commercial practices and dominant market positions, as well as <u>common policies</u> aimed at complementing the working of market forces when they prove insufficient to achieve common goals in such areas as infrastructure, technological advancement, regional development and environment.

In the field of competition policy, the Commission's ability to apply Community law governing the internal market will be strengthened, various measures will be implemented to increase the transparency, efficiency and legal certainty of the procedures of the Community's competition policy and a court of first instance, specialising in particular in competition questions, will be established alongside the European Court of Justice.

As far as complementary common policies are concerned, the European Council approved in February 1988 a package of measures which dealt both with the most urgent and arduous European policy issues and Community policies directed at common goals and safeguarding the economic .

and social cohesion of the Community. The package included three major elements. Firstly, an adaptation of the common agricultural policy to the general conditions in the world market and to the need of preserving a diversified agricultural sector in Europe. Secondly, the adoption of a new financial regime which provides a firm footing for Community activities on the basis of a system of own resources. Thirdly, a considerable improvement in the Community's capacity to influence structural and regional developments in the single market. Most importantly, the structural funds will be doubled by 1993, which, together with a reorientation of policies away from project to programme financing, will enable the Community more effectively to promote growth and adaptation in less developed regions and a restructuring of declining industries. Moreover, with the adoption of a framework programme for research and technological co-operation the Community will be able to strengthen the scientific and technological foundations of European industry and help it to exploit the advantages of an enlarged market.

- 6 -

4. Perspectives, opportunities and problems

10. The European Council, meeting in Rhodes in December 1988, noted that "at the halfway stage towards the deadline of December 1992, half of the legislative programme necessary for the establishment of the large market is already nearly complete" and underlined "the <u>irreversible nature</u> of the movement towards a Europe without internal frontiers". There is, indeed, widespread evidence that the objective of a single market enjoys broad support by consumers and producers and that their economic decisions are increasingly influenced by the prospects of 1992. Anticipation effects are clearly reflected in the investment strategies of European firms and the unprecedented number of mergers foreshadowing growing industrial co-operation. These developments have generated a new dynamism and have contributed to the recent acceleration of economic growth in the Community.

11. The single market will entail <u>profound structural changes</u> in the economies of the member countries. The abolition of internal barriers will link national economies much more closely together and significantly increase the degree of economic integration within the Community. These changes offer immense opportunities for economic advancement but many of L-P: hob clear that Cammunty has endarked the objection; better awit

1-2 beller and

de lar: sharken pare 10-18 L-12 this section assumes that by ende &? the - (an munity will be a fully in her as head mochal and in the little well were ho begange be subject of orgent Community achien & paint to have volumbary. Cooperation and suffice, Change : suggest that member the well take many years to dejuse the volume of muste marked legendalan, as well there reasonic Shuchener. Community shanked mak belie any Ingia leave now, but concede that the porcess of integration will lead to pressure to succeeting conduction, some of whice man poursely be lead how the cubie

de las: para 11 is ho optimistic

the potential gains can only materialise if economic policy - at both national and the Community levels - responds adequately to the structural changes. The opportunities arise because the unified enlarged economic space greatly increases the freedom of choice of market participants, raises their purchasing power, generates considerable possibilities for exploiting economies of scale and comparative advantages, reduces the administrative costs of intra-Community trade and enlarges the margins of manoeuvre for macro-economic policy. There can be no doubt that these changes prepare the ground for a more efficient use and allocation of resources with beneficial effects for trade, growth and employment.

- 7 -

The extent to which these gains can be achieved depends critically on the degree of certainty as well as the soundness and consistency of the government policies affecting the decision-making of private market participants. The single market will greatly strengthen economic interdependence between member countries, reduce the room for independent policy manoeuvre and amplify the cross-border effects of developments originating in each member country. If national policies are not pursued in a credible and consistent manner the participants in the single market will be facing conflicting signals, which will not only create an unfavourable climate of uncertainty, but over time will give rise to economic imbalances which might necessitate more frequent exchange rate realignments or recourse to safeguard clauses. The existence of a common market and the desire to draw from it all its potential economic and social benefits thus necessitates a much Tmore intensive and effective co-ordination of policy between separate national authorities. This is most obviously the case in the field of monetary policy, where freedom of capital movement and integrated fimancial markets would quickly translate incompatible national policies into exchange rate pressures. But it also applies to all other areas of national economic management which affect aggregate demand and costs of production.

Even close co-operation between national authorities, however, cannot ensure that the efficiency gains from a unified market will be evenly distributed among all member countries. Common policies conducted at the Community level in support of a broadly balanced development and an equitable distribution of prosperity are therefore an indispensable complement to a single market. Indeed, the need to back up the removal of market barriers by a strengthening of common regional and structural

However Reese Generate will accome simple mechal vencerus apen to competition a global free healing tysher and avoid the creation house, use any three can have

T gotthe and alweble can on parce of the annual policy, hull this occolds. To this and coardination of policy between Seperate motioned as theating needs to be return these ifferther and this be meak more effective. Therefore of carbier moments and the police francisch market was can grickly handlede in carrent 2 have how police the backets have take in carrent 2 have how police the construction on those of the rouse how public the exchange worke passame, while at the rouse how public the exchange worke passame, while at the rouse how public the construction on thousand policies and their construction between the how has policies and the second of methand and there are been to all avect of methand actions therefore the course of the formation and the production, the charter of methands and the course of policy of the formation of the formation of the course of policy of the charter of the formation of the course of policy of the charter of the course of the formation of the course of policy of the charter of the course of the course of the course of policy of the charter of policy. (Policy)

case-by-case (Cimpil

policies was clearly recognised in the Brussels package of measures agreed in February 1988.

- 8 -

12. The success of the internal market programme thus hinges to a decisive extent on a much closer co-ordination of national economic policies, as well as on more effective Community policies. This implies that in-essence a number of the steps towards economic and monetary union will already have to be taken in the course of establishing a single market in Europe. It_alse_implies_that-serious-consideration should be given to the limits of voluntary co-ordination. Policy decisions faced by national authorities in the economic as well as in the monetary field are subject to many pressures and institutional constraints so that even best efforts to choose a course of action mindful of international repercussions and influences are bound to fail at certain times. By giving undlear or contradictory signals to market participants and by generating divergent trends, a failure in co-operation would weaken the single market and create the danger of negative chain reactions. This is why entirely voluntary procedures would be too fragile a foundation to build on permanently for achieving the necessary degree of policy co-ordination.

13. As will be explained in Part II of this Report, an <u>economic and</u> <u>monetary union</u> encompasses a common market for persons, goods, services and capital, a single currency area and a set of arrangements designed to ensure a coherent and effective economic management for the Community as a whole. In this sense economic and monetary union will add two principal elements to the internal market programme. Firstly, it will explicitly set up a policy framework which will replace the present ad hoc procedures for voluntary policy co-ordination by a system defining clearly the distribution of policy responsibilities exercised at the Community and the national levels and thereby gratanize /a consistent economic management. Secondly, it will create a single currency area through an irrevocable locking of exchange rates or the introduction of a single currency, and thereby strongly enhance the potential of the single market.

Although in many respects a natural sequence to the commitment to create a market without internal frontiers, the move towards economic and monetary union represents a quantum jump which would secure a significant L-P: not acceptice that success of internal mertil pagarente bringer to a decision where on a much clase could rela

Pote

White voluntary carpenship thanked he relied on be much es possible to arrive at increasing by concurpere tradarde policies. Mus, helping because of Aliverer caribilities and Sitherban, the member canber, there is well. Chell, to be a treed for man hirading procedures (Pole)

L-P searen, consideration ston les be given to the truchs of colon have car chancele as projoin is made howery Ether; the internal merchet programme chelf does (in his ways) five with to such consideration

Ole las: pera 13-17 i handed he Condensal he had in them

- in thet a manunes et ha (Pole) promote ((-P)

(- (L-P)

increase in economic welfare in the Community. This would derive from three interrelated developments.

14. Firstly, the strengthening and expansion of common policies pursued at the Community level would help to correct market imperfections which operate on a Community-wide scale and could therefore not be satisfactorily dealt with at a national level. This applies to research and development, where Community policies would promote the pooling of resources, help to avoid duplication and facilitate the dissemination of information. Similarly, common industrial policies could prevent competition among national incentive schemes which, without a certain degree of intervention at the Community level, would tend to neutralise each other and lead to a waste of scarce economic resources. Large productivity gains for the Community as a whole could also be achieved by organising on a Community scale the provision of cross-border public goods such as infrastructure for transportation. the environment and long-distance energy transmission. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, the Community structural policies would help to develop a more balanced economic structure throughout the Community and thereby prevent the emergence or aggravation of regional and sectoral imbalances.

15. Secondly, a joint management of macro-economic policies is not only vital for the cohesion of an economic and monetary union, but it would also systematically <u>enlarge the reciprocal room for manoeuvre</u> that could be exploited under a co-operative strategy to attain a higher rate of growth and employment. Within a clearly defined framework for policy-making the interdependence of economic developments in individual member countries would be automatically taken into account and would thereby ensure the most favourable outcome from the interactions of national policies. For instance, the Geschini <u>Report estimated</u> that the impact of the internal market programme on growth in the <u>Community</u>, which might be in the order of $4\frac{1}{2}$, could be further raised by $2\frac{1}{2}$ percentage points if the removal of market barriers were accompanied by an active macro-economic policy in the Community. An economic and monetary union would greatly enhance the chances for implementing such a co-ordinated strategy.

L-P para then cal be anothed

Thus the support of the only marked programme an grouble in the Community could be builder varies,

(Poll,

١

16. Thirdly, in leading to a single currency area an economic and monetary union would establish the conditions under which a common market could fully develop its potential. In a single currency area participants in the single market would benefit considerably from three developments: exchange rate uncertainties with regard to intra-Community transactions would be eliminated, the cost of transactions between residents of different Community countries would be reduced and the transparency of prices and, therefore, the pressure to avoid price discrimination would be increased. These three consequences would not only provide greater certainty for economic decisions and planning, they would also strongly reinforce the competitive forces of a common market and enhance its allocative function. The existence of irrevocably fixed exchange rates would, moreover, dispel fears of a devaluation and market participants would cease to seek compensation for anticipated exchange rate depreciation in the form of higher wage claims or higher interest rates. As a consequence, cost pressures would be reduced and interest rates would converge in a downward direction. Finally, as a single currency area the Community would be much less susceptible to external economic shocks.

- 10 -

The adoption of permanently fixed exchange rates would, however, eliminate an important indicator of policy inconsistencies among Community countries and remove the exchange rate as an instrument of adjustment from the Community's set of economic tools. Economic imbalances among member countries, reflecting either a differing response of individual economies to disturbances from outside the Community, or divergent cost developments within the Community, would therefore have to be corrected by policies affecting the structure of the economies and the costs of production, if major regional disparities in output and employment were to be avoided. The abandonment of the exchange rate instrument would constitute the single most significant change on the way to economic and monetary union, but the effect of this change pould be alleviated in an economic and monetary union by the availability of common Community policies and a high degree of matronal policy co-ordination. Indeed, external shocks would normally not affect the entire economy of a single member country, but rather manifest themselves in specific sectors throughout the Community, so that the appropriate remedial action would be in the form of structural policies instead of exchange rate changes. Sizable imbalances among Community countries pould only emerge if individual countries embarked on

Oh les: pour la Should be packened but perhaps that have

(-P > hendle this arjunner carefully, if it heads he equalisher of wages it wends hered to cause hereins layers in low porchectually every price and airmination in an sametime be desmalle

domestic dernand, prins and the cost of production as well is the churchase of the economic (Pore)

Pill

if appropriate use is made of

, however,

incompatible policy courses, but this is precisely what should be impeded by moving from ad hoc voluntary co-operation to the new set of rules, procedures and institutional arrangements that characterise the economic and monetary union, for collect for.

- 11 -

17. The move to economic and monetary union would considerably increase the <u>Community's weight in the world economy</u>, strengthen its role in international concertation and give it a substantial influence on the management of the world economy and the international monetary system. The Community's enhanced capacity for negotiation and action could make a significant contribution not only to greater stability in exchange and financial markets, but also to a high level of activity in the world economy, with beneficial effects for growth in Europe. The role of a European economic and monetary union in the context of the world economy will be <u>examined</u>, in Part II of this Report.

18. Economic and monetary union has been set as a goal by the Community since the late 1960s. The full implementation and the success of the single market, by itself, requires an increased degree of economic policy co-ordination even in areas that are not, as such, part of the internal market programme. The establishment of the single market together with stepped-up policy co-ordination represents considerable progress along the path leading to an economic and monetary union. Both the desire to draw maximum benefits from the single market programme and the need to intensify economic and monetary co-operation have led the European Council in Hanover to give further consideration to the question of an economic and monetary union and the steps leading to it. In order to be able to set out such a step-by-step approach it is essential to define clearly the final objective. For this reason, the following part of this Report examines the principal features and implications of an economic and monetary union, including a description of the economic and institutional conditions under which it can be achieved. The subsequent part then presents a pragmatic step-by-step approach which could lead in three stages to the final objective.

Tokich would no longe be nomitable in balance of payments problems but a regional employment and some to abytermetry. Relance an 7 may not suffice to prevent such abarlogs ments and a

(Police) vehand ho

L-P: make clear there the wingle marked Olar not acgume Edus and Aingle L-P: om, I' currence and the hingle marked in hyvehan needs to be fully Objeched before the sumplementate of major shops forwards de. * men. union

II. The final stage of economic and monetary union

1. General considerations

.

19. Economic and monetary union in Europe would imply complete freedom of movement for persons, goods, services and capital, as well as irrevocably fixed exchange rates between national currencies or a single currency. This, in turn, would presuppose a high degree of integration and require a common monetary policy and consistent economic policies. In the Community these policies would be geared towards price stability, balanced growth and converging standards of living, high employment and external equilibrium. Economic and monetary union would represent the final result of the process of progressive economic integration in Europe.

20. The Treaty of Rome, as amended by the Single European Act, provides the legal foundation for many of the necessary steps towards economic integration. However, the existing Treaty does not suffice for the creation of an economic and monetary union. The realisation of this objective would call for new arrangements which could only be established on the basis of <u>a new Treaty</u> and consequent changes in national legislations. For this reason the union would have to be embodied in a Treaty which clearly laid down the basic functional and institutional arrangements, as well as provisions governing their step-by-step implementation.

21. Even with a single market, a unified monetary system and an institutional and functional framework for economic management, the Community would continue to consist of independent nations with differing economic characteristics, traditions, social customs and languages. The existence and preservation of this plurality and diversified structure would necessitate that a degree of autonomy in economic decision-making continued to rest with individual member countries and that a balance were struck between national and Community competences. For this reason it would not be possible simply to model an economic and monetary union for the Community on the example of existing federal states; it would be necessary to develop an innovative and unique approach. fully breekenent merded Should to be hard of Part I

An essential element of any approach consistent with the historical and economic conditions in member countries would be the distribution of economic policy responsibilities within the Community in strict conformity with the constitutional "principle of subsidiarity". According to this principle, the functions of higher levels of government should be as limited as possible and should be subsidiary to those of lower levels. Thus, the attribution of competences to the Community would have to be confined to those areas in which collective decision-making was necessary, whereas all policy functions which could be carried out at national (and local) levels without adverse repercussions on the cohesion and functioning of the economic and monetary union would have to remain within the competence of the member countries.

With due regard to the principle of subsidiarity and taking into account what is already provided for in the EC Treaties, the need for new policy functions to be taken at the Community level would arise primarily, though to a somewhat different extent, in the fields of monetary policy and macro-economic management. A monetary union would require a single monetary policy and the responsibility for the formulation of this policy would consequently have to be vested in one decision-making body. In the economic field a wide range of decisions would remain the preserve of national and local authorities acting through their traditional channels and instruments. However, given the impact that they might have on the overall domestic and external economic situation of the Community, such decisions would have to be placed within an agreed macro-economic framework and be subject to binding rules which would enable the Community to determine an overall policy stance, avoid major differences between individual member countries in public sector borrowing requirements and oberturing constraints tith regard to the financing of budget deficits.

22. A step-by-step approach to implementing an economic and monetary union can be set out only if there is a clear understanding of the final objective, of its implications for the working of the economy and economic policy decisions, and of the principal elements that would have to be in place for its successful and durable functioning. Economic union and monetary union are closely intertwined, form two integral parts of a single whole and would therefore have to be implemented in parallel. It is for reasons of expositional clarity that the following sections look separately

Carled L-P: jomil this

7 and acceptance

Me put binding

Ford their implications for the conclust of a commune

Pile

at the principal features defining an economic and a monetary union. This description begins with the concept of a monetary union, chiefly because an economic union can be circumscribed more clearly and specifically once the main elements of a monetary union have been identified.

2. The principal features of monetary union

23. A <u>monetary union</u> describes a single currency area in which policies are managed jointly with a view to attaining common macro-economic objectives. As already stated in the 1970 Werner Report, there are three necessary conditions for a monetary union:

- the assurance of total and irreversible convertibility of currencies;
- the complete liberalisation of capital transactions and full integration of banking and other financial markets; and
- the elimination of margins of fluctuation and the irrevocable locking of exchange rate parities.

The first two of these requirements - the convertibility of Community currencies and the creation of a free and fully integrated financial market - have already been met, or will be with the completion of the internal market programme. The basic conditions for a monetary union would, however, be accomplished only when the decisive step was taken to lock the exchange rates between Community currencies irrevocably. This would be the single most important step towards creating a situation in which all currencies could be used equally to set prices, make payments and denominate debts or credits.

As a result of the permanent fixing of exchange rates, national currencies would become increasingly close substitutes and their interest rates would tend to converge. However, the pace with which these developments took place would depend critically on the extent to which firms, households, labour unions and other economic agents were convinced that the decision to lock exchange rates would not be reversed. Initially, the continuing existence of national currencies might leave doubts about the commitment to unchangeable exchange rate parities and could engender market perceptions of differences between individual currencies' quality E-P. this Mab-pere should conclude in facour of a houritional period as that is possible, once the final decision to make to the inversable locking of points has been below

L-P bunch section an economic una precide sector 2
and standing. Both coherent monetary management and convincing evidence of an effective co-ordination of non-monetary policies would be crucial in dispelling such doubts over time.

24. The three above-mentioned requirements are necessary for the establishment of a single currency area, but their implementation would not necessarily mark the end of the process of monetary unification in the Community. At a later stage the adoption of a single currency, while - inprinciple not strictly necessary for the creation of a monetary union. might be seen - for economic as well as psychological and political reasons - as a natural and desirable further development of the monetary union. A single currency would clearly demonstrate the irreversibility of the move to monetary union, considerably facilitate the monetary management of the Community and have a much greater weight in international markets than any individual Community currency . In this connection, it would be desirable to endorse the idea that the ecu should develop into the future currency of the Community and that an official declaration to this effect should be made at the time of the decision to draw up a new Treaty. This declaration would imply that there should be no discontinuity between the present ecu and the future single currency: any debt contracted in ecus before the introduction of the single currency would have to be payable at face value in ecus if, at maturity, the transition to the single currency had been made. While the Treaty should allow for an appropriate period of transition, this would mean that ultimately the ecu would replace existing national currencies and perform all monetary functions for all residents of the Community. The replacement of national currencies by a single currency would take a certain time and require that economic agents had become sufficiently acquainted with the ecu and that its use in commercial and Enancial transactions had spread.

25. The establishment of a monetary union would have far-reaching implications for the formulation and execution of monetary policy in the Community. Once permanently fixed exchange rates had been adopted, but national currencies continued to exist in an environment of free and fully integrated capital and money markets there would be a <u>need for a single</u> <u>monetary policy</u>, to be carried out through new operational procedures and not simply through the co-ordination of as many national monetary policies

L-1: no neve to alsoibe fature of ear in such debail; Should be left to Part III

Pite

relative to other major convencies such as the US Dollar, i'm etc. then any inducer clinal Community curring. It is produbly boo carly for a decision

inte

The porsent builded live assumes the entribunce of its component curvencies. They chippearance would be depuishen also mean that the existing seen would have to be replaced by a new elsthack lea at the time of heartitica to the commune currency. In any case the true to have bounded lare to be made what aliseant musity from the larthy bosted seen it is love so placeded. Adaguate time woon las be beginned for sconcurve speets to be came acquire bost with the new seen and its chanseles thiss.

as there were currencies participating in the union. This, in turn, would require the attribution of responsibility for monetary policy to a new institution, the European System of Central Banks (the principal features of which are outlined in Section 4 below), which would not only form the basis for centralised and collective decisions on the expansion of money and credit in the Community, but would also possess the necessary financial attributes (i.e. its own balance sheet) and the regulatory powers to enforce implementation of the chosen policy. In designing the necessary operational framework, particular attention would thus have to be given to two essential requirements. Firstly, an agreement would have to be reached on ay unambiguous procedure for setting specific objectives of the Community's aggregate monetary policy; and secondly, instruments would have to be developed to ensure the compliance of national monetary authorities with the commonly Eaken desicion

This shift from national monetary policies to a single monetary policy is an inescapable consequence of entering a monetary union and would mark one of the principal institutional changes required by economic and monetary union. In practice, however, the incision would not be so deepbut rather would represent the completion of a progressively intensified co-ordination of national monetary policies, which had in many respects already foreshadowed the move to a single monetary policy/in the Community. Even prior to the decision to fix exchange rates permanently, the liberalisation of capital movements and financial market integration will create a situation in which the co-ordination of monetary policy will have to strengthen progressively. Once every banking institution in the Community is free to accept deposits from, and to grant loans to, any customer in the Community and in any of the national currencies, the large degree of territorial coincidence between the national central banks' area of jurisdiction, the area in which their currency is used and the area in which "their" banking system operates will be lost and the effectiveness of national monetary policies will become increasingly dependent upon co-operation among central banks. Indeed, the growing co-ordination of monetary policies will make a positive contribution to financial market integration and will help central banks to gain the experience that is necessary for moving to a single monetary policy.

lale

Repart dans not moderate explane extra to to be L-P. even a feeling Ewoynen lyche of Cuber Ranks could be can shocked an alithing ways , belove that we (Pore) in dirpu julile the supply

H determinin (Pro) for the implementation of the comman mometing policy at hatrand limber (Pole) then this

in the hand or market unchange

(-pc instruct 2

7 Although here presared The implication of such a succee wan let be for-reaching. Topethis with the permanent firing of exchange when it wanted elipsive incluschal (Pala) Cambridge of the principal instructure & vailable to connect accomance in balances and ect the dependente in pursuit of notional objections, upearably price thehility. This loss would be made in husely fell by those can his Ital had acher mel some room for manoenve & pursue statistics objectives were the less hinding Edes on les

L-P: para meet to sold sens guestions of external techange whe policy; fixed a flocking selucion with S! blio: imphasive that has all weedly runt be placed on manchen poling; coardination of hudgeben policies also mapulant

- 16 -

26. In summary, the realisation of a monetary union would mean that in a situation of free capital movements and full financial integration the exchange rates between Community currencies would be irreversibly fixed. This would create a monetary union in which, at least initially, all national currencies circulated freely, although they might eventually be replaced by the Doursethe sole Community currency. The transition from a situation of fixed but adjustable exchange rates to a system of permanently locked parities would imply a fundamental change in the economic as well as the monetary management of the Community. National monetary policies would have to give way to a single monetary policy for the Community as a whole. formulated and executed jointly in the context of a European System of Central Banks. At the same time, a single currency area would imply the abandonment of the exchange rate as an instrument of adjustment of imbalances among Community countries and would therefore require, in parallel to the process of monetary integration, measures to eportinate offectively policies in non-monetary areas.

- 17 -

3. The principal features of economic union

27. <u>Economic union</u> combines the characteristics of an unrestricted common market with a set of rules which are indispensable for its proper working. In this sense economic union can be described in terms of four basic elements:

- the single market within which persons, goods, services and capital can move freely;
- competition policy and other measures aimed at strengthening market mechanisms;
- common policies aimed at structural and regional development; and
- macro-economic policy co-ordination, including binding rules for budgetary policies.

In identifying the content and limits of specific rules and arrangements defining an economic union, the Community should be guided by two considerations.

Firstly, the economic union should be inspired by the same market-oriented economy principles that constitute the foundation of the

Tbecome increasingly close septimies for each other (Pol 1) Telbichue un enfance L-2 ju preasure runerte

economic order of its member countries. Differences in policy choices may exist between member countries or - within the same country - in different periods. However, beyond such differences, a distinctive common feature of economic systems in Europe is the combination of a large degree of freedom for market behaviour and private economic initiative with public intervention in the provision of certain social services and public goods. Within this broad conception, the scope for attributing to the Community economic functions that are at present exercised at national levels should be limited by adherence to the principle of subsidiarity.

Secondly, an appropriate balance between the economic and the monetary components should be ensured for the union to be viable. This would be essential because of the close interactions between economic and monetary developments and policies. A coherent set of economic policies at the Community and national levels would be necessary to maintain permanently fixed exchange rates between Community currencies; and, conversely, a common monetary policy in support of a single currency area would be necessary for the Community to develop into an economic union.

28. The measures aimed at <u>creating the single market</u> are to a large extent envisaged in the Treaty of Rome and the Single European Act. With their implementation, by 1992, all barriers which tend to separate markets along national borders will be eliminated. In particular, all technical and regulatory obstacles will be removed, norms will be harmonised or mutually recognised, and certain common minimum standards governing social policy and consumer and environmental protection will be agreed. Moreover, national tax treatment will be partly harmonised to avoid severe distortion in the competitiveness of industries operating in different countries of the Community.

The creation of a single market will impart strong impulses to economic growth and increase economic welfare through both a further specialisation in line with countries' and regions' comparative advantages and the exploitation of economies of scale in production, research and marketing. These gains will materialise as the residents in the enlarged market without internal frontiers respond to price, wage and interest rate movements, which, transmitted throughout the Community, will provide important incentives for better allocation of factors of production and for a more efficient use of economic resources. There is no doubt that this

Pole: Chlele his pave L-P: sugged reducte to make clev that a Comman manchen police and a single currency we not necessary for economic union then her be desirable

L-P. prove de contact be expanded to sive goester detail ou "soft" union, which goes beyond the night market es describert here. Much can be done, consistent with long-her joil of Even, that pass begand the Completion of the lefstehue hausebook of the manual market.

process will stimulate economic activity and employment in the Community as a whole, and will generate greater economic freedom and increased trade in goods and services.

29. As has been pointed out in Part I of this Report, the single market in combination with irrevocably fixed exchange rates or a single currency would have profound effects on the functioning and the performance of the economy of the Community.

A monetary union would further enhance the advantages of an enlarged economic space because it would remove exchange rate uncertainties and lower transactions costs, eliminate the possibility of movements of exchange rates unwarranted by fundamental factors, contribute in the longer run to the evolution of a more homogeneous economic structure in the Community and reduce the susceptibility of the Community to external shocks.

At the same time, however, exchange rate cealignment would no longer be available as an instrument to correct economic imbalances. Such Turkin the Community, imbalances might arise because the process of adjustment and restructuring set in motion by the removal of physical, technical and fiscal barriers is unlikely to run smoothly or always produce satisfactory results within reasonable periods of time. Imbalances might also emanate from labour and other cost developments in one member country, external shocks with differing repercussions on individual economies, or divergent economic policies pursued at national levels.

With parities irrevocably fixed, foreign exchange markets would cease to provide a source of pressure for / policy corrections when / economic disequilibria developed and persisted. Moreover, the statistical measurement and the economic interpretation of economic imbalances might more difficult because in a fully integrated become market balance-of-payments figures, which are currently a highly visible and sensitive indicator of economic disequilibria, would no longer play such a significant role as a guidepost for policy-making. Nonetheless, such imbalances would have to be detected and eliminated rather quickly, or their emergence be avoided altogether, in order to make it possible to meap the benefits of economic union without undue costs in the form of marked pressures on output and employment in sertain regions of the Community.

Pile delike

1-P. Ray can led begin a trees beching his hicklich "Ee. + mounthing in min

adjustement (Pole), L-P: Mus ijstares the possituity when the Community, Of an ex. whe change versions thread community

1-P Frichianal

> L-P. argument difficelt he bollow: market wanted prance Chil would paramale here been bequelect as her defices.

Tip left unconnected warded mension there selves Os regional in heleinas

The balance between the economic benefits and costs of exchange rate fixity would become more and more favourable as the Community developed into an economic and monetary union. In order to tilt the balance in this direction it would be essential that the move towards monetary union should be coupled with measures designed to strengthen the mobility of factors of production and a close co-ordination of economic policies.

30. The creation of an economic and monetary union would need to complement the single market through <u>action in three interrelated areas</u>: competition policy and other measures aimed at strengthening market mechanisms; common policies to enhance the process of resource allocation in those economic sectors and geographical areas where the working of market forces needed to be reinforced or complemented; macro-economic co-ordination, including binding rules in the budgetary field and other arrangements both to limit the scope for divergences between member countries and to design an overall economic policy framework for the Community as a whole.

31. <u>Competition policy</u> - conducted at the Community level - would have to operate in such a way that access to markets would not be impeded and market functioning not be distorted by the behaviour of private or public economic agents. Such policies would have to address conventional forms of restrictive practices and the abuse of dominant market positions, but would also have to deal with new aspects of antitrust laws, especially in the field of merger and takeover activities. In addition, attention would have to be paid to excessing government subsidies to be owtent to which they distorted competition or resulted in the longer run in / an inefficient use and allocation of scarce economic resources.

32. <u>Community policies in the regional and structural field</u> would be of <u>paramount importance</u>, in order to promote an optimum allocation of resources and to spread welfare gains throughout the Community. Without adequate consideration for regional imbalances, the economic union would be faced with grave economic and political risks. For this reason particular attention would have to be paid to an effective Community policy aimed at cushioning regional and structural disparities and promoting a balanced development throughout the Community. In this context the regional

Meering derigned to strong than the moleting of prober of prochection bounder be one way have been such im balances (Pote)

L-P. There of thick his we mare acute . 7 more he state in a schneeting of shunger & pubarmanas

7 The use of TRSSist particular inclushing should be thickly civicumica bed because the 1 and cauld

(-P: not all can here regend allance handler es a solution to there problems "parament they are hance" not alleptores by all can be to function the European Cancel merchal, sagers that there are no hass aphrics and that experience to dele (at matimal & Cammun by lower) den not affer accessadance that such polene mended be effective implications of other Community policies would have to be taken into account.

- 21

(The creation of a single market and the locking of exchange rates would take place in a situation in which, owing to ill-adapted structures and differences in productivity, some major regional disparities would still exist. The impact of "economic and monetary integration on these disparities may be difficult to assess: on the one hand, economic integration would provide less developed regions with lower wage levels with an opportunity to attract modern and rapidly growing service and manufacturing industries for which the choice of location would not necessarily be determined by transport costs and market proximity. On the other hand, however, transport costs and economies of scale would tend to favour a shift in economic activity away from less developed regions. especially/at the periphery of the Community, to the highly developed areas its centre. The economic and monetary union should avoid undue economic and political tensions arising from possible dislocations of industries and labour forces .- Therefore, is would have to encourage and guide structural adjustment which would help the Community's poorer regions to catch up with the wealthier ones. To this end, the Community would have to develop further an effective policy and be endowed with adequate financial resources to allow it to support regional development efforts undertaken at national levels.

A step in this direction was taken in February 1988 when the European Council decided to strengthen and reorganise the Community's regional policies in two respects: the size of structural funds will be doubled over the period up to 1993, emphasis will be shifted from project to programme financing, and a new form of partnership was established between the Community and the receiving regions. In the process of creating economic and monetary union such policies you'd have to be strengthened further after 1993, depending on the speed of porjour, bowends cc. + man union

The principal objective of regional policies should not be to subsidise incomes and simply temper inequalities in standards of living. but to help to equalise production conditions through investment programmes in such areas as physical infrastructure, communication, transportation and education so that large-scale movements of labour do not become the major adjustment factor. The success of these policies will hinge not only on the size of the available financial resources, but to a decisive extent also on

If exchange achies are lacked at an early share in 1-2. the deverlage me of a single reached, some enaiter reprande disperition wanted thele public a fleching ill-colyched shinchers and differences i'm pooch chiefe

Til they were 7 7 To were ho be under tehen before hun elipperties weere acchanced, ho ((-P))xel the Community .

1-P. canlad also make clear the conhimung vale That national begran al police well play, ein where ec. + monchy and not surger, well be doin by the carbon

N might

7 At the came time excessive actionce financial escichance through tyranal and (buchurel polices cause cause her wans that med the providence. (Pote) 1-P: can let be anotherd

their efficient use and on the private and social return of the investment programmes. Indeed, the more recent experience of countries inside and outside the Community has shown that structural and regional development programmes have been particularly successful when improvements in the resource base of regions encouraged by investment in infrastructure and education have been reinforced by decentralised initiatives for local entrepreneurship, modernisation of urban areas and local institutional arrangements favouring development. A long-term approach would offer countries with lower levels of productivity an appropriate period of transition and in this sense would constitute an essential element of the policy mix to ensure continuing economic integration.

In certain areas such as infrastructure, research and technological development, and environment, the Treaty of Rome as amended by the Single European Act have laid the foundations of Community policies aimed at common goals. Such policies would not only enhance market efficiency and offset market imperfections, but could also contribute to regional development. Subject to the limits of the principle of subsidiarity, such policies would have to be developed in the process towards economic and monetary union.

Sufficient wage flexibility and labour mobility should contribute to avoiding changes in competitiveness in different regions and countries of the Community that could lead to relatively large declines in output and employment in areas with deteriorating competitiveness. In order to reduce adjustment burdens temporarily, it might be necessary in certain circumstances to organise financing flows through official channels. Such financial support would be additional to what might be provided by spontaneous capital flows or external borrowing and should be granted on terms and conditions that would prompt the recipient to intensify its adjustment efforts.

33. <u>Macro-economic policy</u> is the third area in which action would be necessary in-order to have a viable economic and monetary union and to draw from it maximum benefits. This would require an appropriate definition of the role of the Community in the co-ordination of economic policies.

The major developments affecting macro-economic conditions would continue to be determined by factors and decisions operating at the national level. This would apply not only to wage negotiations and other L-P: can let be another

5

C-P: If waje flexitic and labour motorting are in alflent region and can be of the Community thus could be

the for L-1: Omit

- 23 -

economic behaviour in the fields of production, savings and investment, but also to the action of public authorities in the economic and social sphere. Aside from the system of binding rules governing the size and the financing of national budget deficits, decisions on the main components of public policy in such areas as internal and external security, justice, social security, education, and hence on the level and composition of government spending as well as many revenue measures would remain the preserve of member states even at the final stage of economic and monetary union. Only if the provision of major public goods constituting the bulk of public sector activity were attributed to a large extent to the Community level would the Community budget be significantly enlarged.

However, an economic and monetary union could only operate on the basis of mutually consistent and sound behaviour by governments, unions and other economic agents in all member countries. In particular, unco-ordinated and divergent national budgetary policies would not only undermine monetary stability, but would also generate imbalances in the real and financial sectors of the Community and render it impossible to pursue appropriate macro-economic policies for the Community as a whole. Similarly, strong divergences in wage levels not justified by different trends in productivity would produce economic tensions and pressures for monetary expansion.

To some extent market forces would exert a disciplinary influence because financial markets, consumers and investors would respond to differences in macro-economic developments in individual countries and regions, assess the budgetary and financial position of different countries, penalise deviations from commonly agreed fiscal guidelines or wage settlements, and thus exert pressure for sounder policies. However, experience suggests that market perceptions do not necessarily provide strong and compelling signals and that access to a large capital market may for some time even facilitate the financing of economic imbalances. Rather than leading to a gradual adaptation of borrowing costs, market views about the creditworthiness of official borrowers tend to change abruptly and result in the closure of access to market financing. The constraints imposed by market forces might either be too slow and weak or too sudden and disruptive. This is why countries will have to accept that sharing a common market and a single currency area imposes policy constraints. L-P: omil whole pape

In the budgeter field hindin rale are required that wanter, prikly, impose effective upper limits on hudget elepients of inducichal meanser canhaves of the Community; recancely, exclude because he shreet can had been he cuelit and limit decause to extremal barrowing, inclusions barrowing (and in non- Community annerate. Like wich Parc effective can be and coarefination of market طمہ PZY havaning by public entities at all Cerels, a "public finance coarchinating authority" consisting -of representations of all such entities thanked - be estably help. One-of its abjectures bounder be to fearlibule the conduct of a cohean! (Pole) mix of bicel and monthern policies.

In the general macro-economic field, an overall assessment of the short-term and medium-term economic developments of the Community should be agreed periodically and constitute the framework for a better co-ordination of national economic policies. The Community should be in the position to monitor its overall economic situation, to assess the consistency of developments in individual countries with regard to common objectives and to formulate guidelines for policy.

As regards wage formation and industrial relations, the autonomous negotiating process of social partners should be preserved and strengthened with a view to improving the prospects for growth and employment. To this end efforts would have to be made to convince European management and labour of the advantages of gearing wage policies largely to improvements in productivity. Governments, for their part, should strengthen tendencies towards reducing or completely eliminating direct intervention in the wage and price formation process.

In the budgetary field, particular arrangements would be necessary. Such arrangements should, firstly, impose effective and binding limits on budget <u>deficits</u> that could be incurred by individual member countries of the Community, although in setting these limits the situation of each member country might have to be taken into consideration. Secondly, the arrangements would have to include (in accordance with the criteria laid down for a European System of Central Banks) strict limits - both in size and duration - on the maximum permissible access to central bank credit, as well as on borrowing in non-Community currencies. Thirdly, the arrangements should enable the Community to conduct a coherent mix of fiscal and monetary policies, i.e. to dispose of a system of rules that could be applied with a view to determining the aggregate balance on national budgetary positions, including that of the Community.

34. In summary, the establishment of an economic union would require:

- the creation of an internal market without physical, technical or fiscal frontiers, supplemented by a competition policy which effectively removes distortions in competition;
- a system of policies to stimulate regional and structural developments through multi-annual investment programmes, which

(-P. neb unanimously accepted, - wither to omit pare

Pote reducte (see prevenue pape)

1-P. monetary

would help regions with lower productivity to catch up with the more developed parts of the Community;

- common policies with regard to infrastructure, research and technological development, and environment, which would help to exploit the full potential of the single market and complement its role in the allocation of resources;
- consideration of the social dimension of the European Community;
- a framework for monitoring and co-ordinating general short-term and medium-term economic developments in the Community with a view to attaining non-inflationary, balanced economic growth;
- effective and binding bo-ordination procedures, which would analy the community to determine its macro-fiscal policy stance, to set maximum possible deficits for national budgets taking into consideration the situation of each member country, and limits on bethe monetary financing and borrowing in third currencies.

4. Institutional arrangements

35. Management of the economic and monetary union would thereforecall for an institutional framework which would allow policy to be decided and executed at the Community level in those economic areas that were of direct relevance for the functioning of the union. The institutional framework would have to guarantee efficient economic management, properly embedded in the democratic process. The creation of a monetary union would necessitate the setting-up of a new monetary institution, placed in the constellation of Community institutions (European Council, Council of Ministers, European Parliament, Commission and Court of Justice). Although the establishment of economic union would not necessarily require the creation of a new institution, the formulation and implementation of common policies in non-monetary fields and the co-ordination of policies under the competence of national authorities could require a revision and, possibly, some restructuring of existing Community institutions.

36. The need for a new monetary institution arises because a single monetary policy cannot be decided and implemented independently by different central banks and because day-to-day monetary policy operations can respond quickly to changing market conditions only if they are decided

(-P. nued is rely to decide on somes ingue a coheverie for budget in balances, which share the bake ----سر accant of Tim the Community, which access to thread can had di Herin Rual buil cuell limit receive to bowcere nul third unnercie of end al R. helmher Cankin (-)

(-P: & ting le monchen police <u>can</u> be décided and implemented independently, than , L'it is arguelle that it regils be never els simple for it to be cleareled en holle

1-P: omil these malents

centrally. For these reasons the Community's domestic and international monetary policy would have to be organised in a European System of Central <u>Banks</u> (ESCB). The System would have to be given the status of a new and autonomous institution of the Community, operating under the provisions of the Treaty and could consist of a central institution (with its own balance sheet), and national central banks. At the final stage the ESCB - acting through its Council - would formulate and decide the targets of monetary policy for generate the Community's exchange rate vis-à-vis third currencies. The national central banks would be entrusted with the implementation of policies in conformity with guidelines established by the Council of the ESCB and in accordance with instructions from the central institution.

The European System of Central Banks, which would embody the Community's monetary order, should rest on the following basic principles:

Mandate and functions

- the System would be responsible for the formulation of monetary policy at the Community level, for the co-ordination of policy implementation at the national level, for the full convertibility of European currencies, and for the maintenance of a properly functioning payment system; the System would be committed to regulate the amount of money in circulation and the volume of credit supplied by banks and other financial institutions on the basis of disterila designed the past price stability as well as economic growth;
- the System would be responsible for the formulation of banking. supervisory policy at the Community level and for co-ordination of banking supervision policies of the national supervisory authorities.

Status

- independence of instructions from national governments and Community authorities;
- proper democratic legitimisation through reporting and appointment procedures;

[-1. could be organized according to some techeral form that myll be called a

The responsible for farmulating and implementing I as well as manejing

7 and its implementedian at the matiance level (-P. the System wanted be committed to poonohis porce shell be well as hearons H Lane in which have to safeguarding orenall ++ participate in the

- appointment of the members of the Board by the European Council on the proposal of the ESCB Council; the tenure of Board members would be for five to seven years and would be irrevocable;
- transmission of an annual report by the ESCB to the European Council and the European Parliament; the Chairman of the Board
 could be invited to report to these institutions;
- supervision of the administration of the System independently of the Community bodies, for example by a supervisory council or a committee of independent auditors.

Structure and organisation

- a federative structure, since this would correspond best to the political structure of the Community;
- establishment of a European Central Bank Council (composed of the Governors of the central banks and the members of the Board), which would be responsible for the formulation of and decision on the thrust of monetary policy;
- establishment of a Board (with supporting staff), which would monitor monetary developments and oversee the implementation of the common monetary policy;
- national central banks, which would execute operations in accordance with instructions given by the Board.

Policy instruments

- the instruments available to the System, together with a procedure for amending them, would be specified in its statutes; the instruments would comprise both regulatory powers and the authority to conduct central banking operations in money and foreign exchange markets;
- there would be strict limitations on lending to all public authorities;
- the monetary policy instruments would be oriented towards a free market economy.

37. In contrast to the monetary field, in the <u>economic field</u> an institutional framework for performing policy tasks is already in place,

1-P. unnecessary he splitty in the chables the

not clear why ESCB showed were the

if de out necessary, bether in Parlie L-P: Jugent anistice.

with different and complementary functions conferred to the Council, the European Parliament, the Commission and the Court of Justice. The new Treaty would therefore not have to determine the mandate, status and structure of a new institution but to complement and adapt the role of the existing institutions in the light of the policy functions they would have to fulfil in an economic and monetary union. The new Treaty would have to specify this adaptation / in accordance with certain general criteria and with reference to the four main policy areas described above.

<u>General criteria</u>

In order to ensure a flexible and effective conduct of policies in those economic areas in which the Community would be involved, three basic requirements would have to be fulfilled:

- to the extent that policies were decided and enacted at the Community level, there would have to be a clear distribution of responsibilities among the existing Community institutions, with due regard to whether decisions relate to the setting of broad policy directions or to day-to-day operations in the light of current developments. By analogy with the structure of the European System of Central Banks, where the ESCB Council would determine the broad lines of monetary policy and the day-to-day execution of these policies would be in the hands of the Board, a similar allocation of responsibilities between the Council of Ministers of the Commission could be envisaged in the -economic field;-
- in those areas in which the Community's role would be to co-ordinate policies that are decided and implemented by member countries, compliance with the Community's policy framework would have to rely on a system of binding rules to individual member states including the possibility - for the Council or the Commission - to sanction departures from the agreed policy line;
- discretionary changes in Community resources, in the level of harmonised taxation rates and in the terms and conditions attached to structural policies and Community loans should become available instruments and incentives in support of agreed policies;
- on core of mon-compliance by a recember These the Commission wounder have the verpointibility for baking effective oction to assume compliance; The mature of these action wounder have to be stylawood.

I and determine the areas where solch brend decision - unahan au traction bounded have to be hanspersed have the reaching to the Countermity level.

T could be environed in the economic field by accuracy the right to deber mine the broad When of accumatic police to I while the along - to- along treaching of these policies would be in the hands of the Commission

L-P. There 7. no commitment to have munited being nate and not clear what i'm the tender it reprosed to be recommedia

Rles Durchery

Single market and competition policy

In these two areas, the necessary procedures and arrangements have already been established by the Treaty of Rome and the Single European Act, conferring upon the Community the legislative, executive and judicial authority. While for economic agents the completion of the internal market represents a marked easing of the overall burden of regulation, for the Community institution the 300 new directives necessary to create and maintain the single market will represent a substantial addition to their executive and policing functions. New instruments and procedures to enforce the rules of the single market might prove necessary after 1992.7

- 29 -

Community policies in the regional and structural field

The foundations for a more effective Community role in regional and structural development have recently been put in place, involving both a doubling of the resources of structural funds and a reorganisation of policies as described in earlier parts of this report. At a more advanced stage of the process these mechanisms would have to be further extended and made more effective.

Macro-economic policy

The broad <u>objective</u> of co-ordination of general economic policies would be to promote growth, and employment in an environment of price stability and economic cohesion. For this purpose co-ordination would involve: defining medium and chort-term policy approaches, bearing in mind their economic and social implications; participating in the policy co-ordination with the other areas of the industrial world; cetting a multi-year framework for national and Community budgetary policies; managing common policies, particularly with a view to improving structural and regional development; and determining, in close consultation with the ESCB Council, the Community's exchange rate policy; and pack with the

This is the field where New procedures would have to be developed. Firstly, they would have to strike a balance between of oraination through binding rules and discretionary co-ordination adapted to a particular economic situation. Secondly, they would have to cover both horizontal co-ordination - between member countries and the Commission and the Council - and vertical co-ordination between a member country and the Commission. L-P: These muchanism, regul have to be busher extended and made more effective, dependens upon the speech of porgoes how add, he. + man. un te.

L'économic policy L-P. examine implaces is given la Jourd external balance out of the Commission, and of all proportion to its small budget. Hy -term francewark her brodychang police within decuarine and manhave union.

in policy coardination at the international level required for the purpose Malance on T bheve herenang to lusure elkection implementation

in this context it would be necessary to develop an effective procedure for joint decision-making in the field of budgetary policy . This would involvence

- 30 -

- the definition of the overall stance of fiscal policy, inc. the size and the financing of the aggregate budgetary position in the Community;
- binding rules and collective decisions concerning budget deficits which could be incurred by individual countries;
- strict limits on the maximum permissible access to monetary financing as well as on borrowing in non-Computity currencies.

38. The new Treaty laying down the programme, procedures and organs of the economic and monetary union would greater a situation in which the existing Community institutions (European Council, Council of Ministers, European Parliament, Commission and Court of Justice) would be supplemented by a new institution of comparable status, the European System of Central Banks. Relationships and interactions between these bodies would have to be defined not only in order to construct a consistent institutional framework, but also to ensure an effective procedure of consultation and co-ordination between budgetary and monetary policies. To this end appropriate relations would have to be established on a regular basis between the existing institutions and the European System of Central Banks, providing for consistent consultation procedures without, however, impinging on the policy responsibilities entrusted to each institution in its own field of economic and monetary management. Such consultation procedures could include participation by the President of the Council and the President of the Commission in meetings of the ESCB Council, and participation by the Chairman of the ESCB Council in meetings of the Council of Ministers. An involvement of the European Parliament and national parliaments in the co-ordination process could be considered in addition to the role to be played by the Council and the Commission, and h the European Parliament could be consulted in advance on the stance of f economic policy in the Community. The consultation process should include a yearly joint assessment of the overall economic and monetary situation and prospects, and the formulation of a general policy guideline for the year to come. Moreover, the Council of Ministers and the Commission would submit

Durin burg! Muy pohicy decidents at the Community level binchy unumber control in the field of their public plance constitute actions for which in elemocracico aspansis, to by us-e-ais particum clearly acquired. This also applies to any action or lack of apply in hyerd to action a war-action taken by the Commission in the action on the Part of the Communication in the helpicance to how - compliance of a mention canter with to action with a decision, cipturely in the

to my particular. 1 aim

Towe the mechan-term, incluction

- shick himitations on public barrowing, e.g. seleted to public convertinent acquirements;
- exclusion of access to can had been a can shit and other rowhere prescucing; - Thich live belieus of borrawing in have Campenting enneries,
- I objective features requirements

I add to

high due acopect for the independent states of the ESCO, & eliptimal eliptichere in this Report, appropriate cansultation proceeder on wanted have to be set up to allow for effective coardination between helpebas and manchers policy. To This ind, albenchese by Commi : ust were to go in to definit, forecarry this "Ever" prohispake I withand power to vote or to block electricure token in accordance with the rule laid flow by the the ESCB Camerel show les be provided for, Equally Elberdence T should be provided for, especially on mathers actuation to hadgelien and other policies of relivence to know to can chick of mouchang policy. Consideration thankell be given to be vale of the European Particument especially in welching to the lenthailey evolving on the Commission

in budgebang mathers, where the latter should be accordible to the European Particul The second shanded a report each year to the European Council and the European Parliament on the functioning and the status of the economic and monetary union.

5. Economic and monetary union in the context of the world economy

39. The realisation of an economic and monetary union in Europe would significantly increase the weight of the <u>Community in the world economy</u> and strengthen its opportunity of playing a multilateral role. The creation of a market without internal barriers, a single currency area and an effective system for policy formulation and implementation would not only be crucial for achieving a high degree of economic stability and satisfactory growth within the Community; it would, at the same time, enable the Community to fulfil its growing responsibilities in an increasingly integrating world economy in which developments inside and outside Europe will interact, and mutual benefits will depend on growing co-operation and concertation of policies. Economic and monetary union would give a more important voice to the Community in international negotiations and enhance its capacity to influence the relations among industrial and developing countries in a wide range of areas such as trade policies, international monetary matters, macro-economic policy concertation and the North-South dialogue.

40. The competence for <u>external trade policy</u> has been attributed to the Community in the Treaty of Rome and the Commission, acting as the Community's spokesman, represents all member countries in multilateral trade negotiations. This role will undoubtedly be strengthened with the completion of the single market which presents an immense potential in terms of purchasing power and as a vehicle for stimulating multilateral trade and economic growth at the global level. However, this potential can only be exploited to its full extent in an open trading system, guaranteeing foreign suppliers free access to the Community market and, conversely, exporters from the Community free access to foreign markets. The removal of internal trade barriers within the Community should constitute a step towards a more liberal trading system on a worldwide scale.

41. The creation of a single currency area and, concomitantly, the move to a single monetary policy conducted by the European System of

(-P. ouil this section

- 32 -

Central Banks will strongly increase the role of the Community in international monetary matters. The liberalisation of capital movements and the integration of financial sectors under the internal market programme will generate a vast financial space and the potential of this market would be greatly enhanced by the introduction of a single currency, which would be likely to develop into an attractive investment instrument for foreign private residents and official authorities alike. The Community would have to assume a growing responsibility for international monetary developments, both with regard to more short-term co-operation at the level of central banks in interest rate management and exchange market interventions as well as in the search for solutions to issues relating to the further development of the international monetary system.

42. As economic and monetary union necessitates an effective macro-economic management for the Community as a whole, it would also strengthen the Community's position in the process of <u>international policy</u> <u>concertation</u> among major industrial countries. However, for the Community to play its part in this respect, the arrangements for internal macro-economic policy formulation and implementation would have to be sufficiently flexible, allowing the Community not only to respond effectively to changing economic circumstances in its internal economic situation, but also to be able to co-ordinate policies in a manner satisfactory to both the Community and other major industrial countries.

43. <u>The institutional arrangements</u> which would enable the Community to fulfil the responsibilities implied by its increased weight in the world economy and to influence international economic developments are partly in place or would be implemented in the process of creating an economic and monetary union. In the area of external trade policies and, to some extent in the field of co-operation with developing countries, the necessary functions have been attributed to the Community. With the establishment of the European System of Central Banks the Community would also have created an institution through which it could participate in all aspects of international monetary management. As far as macro-economic policy co-ordination at the international level is concerned, the Community as such is currently represented only at the summit meetings of the major industrial countries. In order to make full use of its position in the world economy and to exert influence on the functioning of the international economic system, the Community would have to be able to speak with one voice. This emphasises the need for an effective mechanism for macro-economic policy co-ordination within the economic and monetary union.

III. Steps towards economic and monetary union

1. Principles governing a step-by-step approach

44. The request made by the European Council to the Committee to study "concrete stages" reflects the awareness that an economic and monetary union, as outlined in Part II of this Report, is too profound a change in the economic and institutional structure of the Community to be realised at one stroke. Households, firms, unions, public authorities and governments themselves would need time to adapt their economic behaviour to a new setting. Similarly, it would not be possible to change the balance of power within the Community at once in all fields. Rather, it would be necessary to build on success and to retain the possibility of correcting the course of action in the light of new experiences.

The ambition of the final objective, the present diversity in the situations of the European countries and the variety of areas involved - which go well beyond the economic and monetary sphere - make it necessary to be clear concerning the path to be mapped out.

In <u>designing'a step-by-step approach</u> along this path the general principle of subsidiarity, referred to earlier in this Report, as well as a number of further considerations, would have to be taken into account.

45. <u>Discrete but evolutionary steps</u>. The process of implementing economic and monetary union would have to be divided into a limited number of clearly defined stages. Each stage would have to represent a significant change with respect to the preceding one. New arrangements coming into force at the beginning of each stage would gradually develop their effects and bring about a change in economic reality so as to pave the way for the next stage. This evolutionary development would apply to both functional and institutional arrangements. berbean sever an produce

In themas

- Rechooluce: Monthey commental - Com preposal for Stage I Thygean heck

world economy and to exert influence on the functioning of the international economic system, the Community would have to be able to speak with one voice. This emphasises the need for an effective mechanism for macro-economic policy co-ordination within the economic and monetary union.

III. Steps towards economic and monetary union

1. Principles governing a step-by-step approach

44. The request made by the European Council to the Committee to study "concrete stages" reflects the awareness that an economic and monetary union, as outlined in Part II of this Report, is too profound a change in the economic and institutional structure of the Community to be realised at one stroke. Households, firms, unions, public authorities and governments themselves would need time to adapt their economic behaviour to a new setting. Similarly, it would not be possible to change the balance of power within the Community at once in all fields. Rather, it would be necessary to build on success and to retain the possibility of correcting the course of action in the light of new experiences.

The ambition of the final objective, the present diversity in the situations of the European countries and the variety of areas involved - which go well beyond the economic and monetary sphere - make it necessary to be-clear concerning the path to be mapped out.

In <u>designing a step-by-step approach</u> along this path the general principle of subsidiarity, referred to earlier in this Report, as well as a number of further considerations, would have to be taken into account.

45. Discrete but evolutionary steps. The process of implementing economic and monetary union would have to be divided into a limited number of clearly defined stages. Each stage would have to represent a significant change with respect to the preceding one. New arrangements coming into force at the beginning of each stage would gradually develop their effects and bring about a change in economic reality so as to pave the way for the next stage. This evolutionary development would apply to both functional and institutional arrangements.

Pore: de la be Me les: "

P20: [and its finites

1-P: to ubable cleuly the primiple, but also make the mapping of a precise canale impossible

Course :

in clase i the at

Sheng Chini

L-P: Jusque, bedach de lar: Key bet

46. Parallelism. / Parallel advancement in economic and monetary integration would be indispensable to avoid imbalances which could cause economic strains and loss of political support for further developing the Community into an economic and monetary union. However, perfect parallelism at each and every point of time would be impossible and could even be counterproductive. Already in the past the advancement of the Community in certain areas has gone hand in hand with temporary standstill in others. thus involving only partial parallelism. A certain amount of temporary deviations from parallelism is part of the dynamic process of the Community. (However, parallelism would have to be maintained in the medium term.7

- 34 -

47. Calendar. The conditions for moving from stage to stage cannot be defined exactly in advance. They would depend on too many factors to permit the setting of explicit deadlines. The timing of, especially, the move to irrevocably fixed exchange rates would have to be judged in the light of circumstances by the Council, the Commission and the European System of Central Banks (ESCB), which would have been created in the second stage. A : firm commitment to the final stage, as described in Part II of this Report, would, however, be indispensable. There should be a clear indication of the timing of the first step. It could coincide with the decision to draw up a new Treaty, thus anticipating the entry into force of the Directive for the full liberalisation of capital movements on 1st July 1990. It might be envisaged that this first stage would be completed with the implementation of the single market at the end of 1992.

48. Indivisibility and gradualism. Gradual progress in a step-by-step approach should not at any point in time produce ambiguities about the ultimate responsibility for each policy decision and its execution. Unless it is unmistakable who (i.e. whether national governments or the Community; which organ or institution) has "the last word", there would be a risk of market uncertainty and policy conflict. Policy responsibilities are not equally divisible in all areas.

In the monetary field, once exchange rates were irrevocably locked - as was pointed out in Part II of the Report - a common monetary policy would be required and would have to be formulated collectively in the framework of the European System of Central Banks. As the authority

L-P. / As has been argued in Pack II monday unin without delar 1 agrees 1 a sufficient depose of convergence of budgehory policies is unlikely to be demake buck can be downed in h he Community

Poll [7 the entering, parallelister were los have to be main havined in the medium have but also be fare proceeding here de las Colly One they to the hext.

(-P: nederall of hand pertol pare Pole: reducit

Duiterberg: allale

chler: annih

Pali: Obviden

Hellman er - Amindracert ha la felussy proposal de les ajores but would be add "innectichely" ablu in seconde lege hhu End ab the end ; The beginning of the first stage will coincide with had a abairing by the the nerohistians of a her Toeske, this entripoling her lake into pres of the Marching be the full liberalisation of comtet unourments on 41 July 1480 "

over monetary policy cannot be shared out among several autonomous decision-making bodies, the ultimate decision-making power over each Community currency would rest with the respective national monetary authorities until exchange rates were locked. [This sets the limit of the possible attribution of policy functions to the central institution before the final stage.]

At the same time, however, if the objective of economic cohesion and the attainment of progressive exchange rate stability were not to be put in jeopardy, the extent to which the national decision-making power could be exercised in practice would be increasingly constrained for all central banks and decisions would perforce have to taken increasingly within a framework of close co-operation and co-ordination. As suggested in the description of concrete steps, collaboration and common decision-making) with regard to certain operations could be greatly strengthened long before the responsibility for monetary policy was actually transferred to the ESCB.

[In the economic field policy responsibilities can be, and are, shared between different levels of government in all constitutional systems. This facilitates a step-by-step approach to economic and monetary union.]

49. Participation. There is one Community, but not all the members have participated fully in all its aspects from the beginning. So far this has mainly been the consequence of successive enlargements and, for the EMS, of the decision of some countries not to join the exchange rate agreement. A consensus on the final objectives of the Community, as well as participation in the same set of institutions, should be maintained, while allowing for a degree of flexibility concerning the date on which some member countries would join certain arrangements. The management of each set of arrangements should be the responsibility of those who participate fully in it.

2. The Treaty

50. The implementation of economic and monetary union would, in accordance with Article 102A as introduced into the Treaty of Rome by the Single European Act, have to be embodied in a new Treaty. This Treaty would

L-P: and, a reduch

Pill. delile

Hoheever eloudy in the first these a typerticent then proceeding of construction proceedings i'm the economic field much be established in the he communications Pole: add: Formulated collectuales und acpach evolucity pourson in major avens Aconomic. Male les: E of the fact that some canhor have madrifi not get taken the decision - maintain this Lenhuce T Pluding the full participation - what is of prime importance -[] is and here to be this section - 2 eader: However this inconsperment 1-12: peplace I by his own alrebt the mease to be will the ence place at each of Part in the mease to be will be the chequetion of the other members Andressen! redoubl agoes with echilizing of 50-52, but make i land que Lev: that they are incorpore hed in Daijenbuy het an bollow-en

provide the legal foundation on which the institutional framework of, and concomitantly the distribution of policy responsibilities in, an economic and monetary union, as described in Part II of the Report, would be based.

The Committee has examined the scope for progress in economic and monetary integration <u>under the present legal provisions</u> in force in each member country. This investigation has shown that unless national legislations are amended in various respects, the scope for further action on the part of national authorities will be narrow: no member country is able to transfer decision-making power to a Community body, nor is it possible for some countries to participate in arrangements for a binding ex ante co-ordination of policies. As a consequence, concrete steps towards economic and monetary union would have to be confined to measures strengthening co-operation, mutual surveillance, analysis of developments and non-binding co-ordination of policies until a new Treaty had been ratified. More substantive steps would require the conclusion of a Treaty. 7

S1. One procedure would be to conclude <u>a new Treaty for each stage</u>. The advantage of this procedure would be that it would explicitly reaffirm the political consensus at each stage. Its disadvantage would be that, as well as being unwieldy and slow, the overall consistency of the process might not be sufficiently safeguarded and sight might be lost of the ultimate objective. It would also carry the risk that progress in parallel between the monetary and non-monetary sides would not be respected.

52. Alternatively, it could be decided to conclude <u>a single</u> <u>comprehensive Treaty</u> which would clearly formulate) the essential features and institutional arrangements of economic and monetary union and the steps in which it could be achieved. (Such a Treaty could facilitate the implementation process through the provision of "organic laws" and enabling clauses and it could also indicate the procedures by which the decision would be taken to move from stage to stage. Each move would require an appraisal of the situation and a decision by the European Council.

3. The ecu

53. The Committee examined various aspects of the role that the ecu could be expected to play in the process of economic and monetary

Pole: redocht :

to bedance a leparch pera

Poze: moken nd wanted selow for wochigication of the barren the following charge show las bake win the light of expressioned with the current shape

LP: [J formulations. LP: [Each made banker begune an appearsul of the existing which a such a stearsian by the European Cameric. Such a Toroly himplifying the political powers of implementation through the provision of "aytune (cass" and maller clauses, in observing also the powerlands by while the observed to haden to more har shape to shape. Pole [] had a Toroly combe indicate the powerlands by which....

1-PET milli

- 36 -

integration in Europe. The Committee is of the view that the ecu should develop into the future single currency of the Community. The realisation of this objective would take time and it should not be forced by issuing ecus before the final stage as an independent currency in addition to the existing national currencies. On the other hand, it would require that the ecu, remaining a basket of currencies, should become as stable as the currencies participating fully in the exchange rate arrangements. In order to be able to develop into the future single currency, it would be essential that market participants become better acquainted with the ecu and that, as a result of a market-determined process, the use of the ecu in financial and commercial transactions would spread throughout the Community. As far as the official ecu was concerned, the Committee felt that, apart from increasing the operations in official ecus within the EMS and enlarging the group of third holders, the official ecu could possibly be employed as an instrument of monetary policy co-ordination at an advanced stage of integration. As far as the private ecu was concerned. a number of promotional measures could be envisaged which would encourage its use in private markets.]

- 37 -

The Committee's conclusions and proposals regarding this important subject are to be found in several parts of the Report. They concern both the final phase and the intermediate stages of the economic and monetary union. For expositional convenience the conclusions are summarised here in four propositions.

54. Firstly, the Committee was of the opinion that the ecu should develop into <u>the future currency of the Community</u>. Although a monetary union does not necessarily imply a single currency, political and psychological reasons suggest that a single currency would be a natural and desirable feature of a monetary union. A declaration that the ecu should develop into the future currency of the Community is desirable. It would assure private agents that there would be no discontinuity between the present ecu and the single currency of the union and that ecu obligations would be payable at face value in ecu if the transition to the single currency had been made at the time of the maturity of the contract.

55. Secondly, the Committee considered the possibility of adopting a <u>parallel currency strategy</u> as a way to accelerate the pace of the monetary

L-P: pucked to deplace the to have section be how Neufl, parage 12 + 13 a al liest EI chalener the form it can havely bakes, could become I Jin's were les require the lappart of the merhols there cushomes and they powers were lake himse and can led not be forced by ...

Pole: [] delete, and connect whe second sub-para

Pote: verball

union process. According to this approach the definition of the ecu as a basket of currencies would be abandoned at an early stage and the new fully-fledged currency, called ecu, would be created autonomously and issued in addition to the existing Community currencies. The new ecu would be a parallel currency in the sense that it circulated alongside national currencies and competed with them. The proponents of this strategy expect that the gradual crowding-out of national currencies by the ecu would make it possible to circumvent the institutional and economic difficulties of establishing a monetary union. The Committee felt that this strategy is not to be recommended for two main reasons. Firstly, an additional source of money creation without a precise linkage to economic activity could jeopardise price stability. Secondly, the addition of a new currency, subject to an independent monetary policy, would further complicate the already difficult endeavour of co-ordinating different national monetary policies.

- 38 -

56. Thirdly, the Committee examined ways for increasing the use of the official ecu. One possibility in this direction was to employ the official ecu as an instrument in the conduct of a common monetary policy. Under such a scheme the official ecu would serve as a reserve instrument, establishing a link between each national central bank and the central institution of the European System of Central Banks. Before the final stage, the official ecu would circulate only among central banks and provide a basis for an operational framework for a common monetary policy that would replace voluntary co-ordination. The Committee felt that such a proposal was one possible way of preparing the ground for a common monetary policy in the course of the second stage.

57. Fourthly, the Committee agreed that a number of measures could promote the <u>voluntary use of the ecu</u> by the private sector as a unit of account and as a means of settlement. In order to avoid undesirable distortions in the financial markets there should be no official discrimination in favour of the ecu; there should, however, be both direct and indirect encouragement. Direct encouragement should aim at increasing the critical mass of transactions in ecu, for example, by stepping up borrowing in ecus by public authorities, increasing the use of the ecu in official transactions inside and, whenever possible, outside the Community.

PL: Oblike
Oblike
Oblike: heplace received the big: "If, at a laber thape, bequired
Aller: heplace received the the Europeen lyster of Cachele
Banks, that weares bounded be demonstrated in this?"
CJ
L-D: Added at the end: A termber of the terms of the Commether
flb that indipological theyle be one possible way of preparing the ground for a common theory of the Commether
flb that teccard these of the matching policy in the commether
flb that teccard these of the matching policy in the commether
flb that teccard these of the matching policy in the commether
flb that we provide a possible way of the commether of the commether
flb that the provide a possible way of the commether of the commether
flb that the provide a policy of the commether of the commether
flb that we provide a policy of the commether
flb that we provide a plant of the commether
flb that we provide a plant of the commether

policies in the clicence manchenes planeworks of the

Pole ochvence to artificial support that be deleted

12 rulles shele

utilising the ecu more extensively in exchange market interventions, (and providing greater support to the ecu clearing system.) One of the most important measures to promote indirectly the use of the ecu would be the declaration that the ecu should develop into the future single currency of the Community. This should provide a clear signal to the private sector to familiarise itself with the ecu. An additional indirect incentive would be the removal of all administrative restrictions on the use of the ecu as a means of settlement and for accounting purposes. In particular, after having been granted the status of a foreign currency, consideration could be given to putting the ecu on an equal footing with the national currency in each member country. Moreover, evidence of a greater use of the official ecu within the EMS and a growing number of official institutions outside the Community holding such ecus could be another form of indirect encouragement.

- 39 -

1-P. chlube

4. Concrete steps in three stages

58. The Committee is of the view that the evolution towards economic and monetary union could be divided into three major stages. In each stage a number of concrete and parallel steps would be implemented in the <u>institutional</u>, economic and monetary field which would advance the process of integration, ensure the gradual construction of the <u>institutional</u> framework and reorganise policy responsibilities in accordance with the requirements of an economic and monetary union.

59. Both strategic considerations and actual economic developments would call for a particularly careful design of the <u>first stage</u>. Firstly, in order to impart a strong momentum to the process of economic and monetary union, and to underpin its credibility, there would have to be a clear and convincing political endorsement of the final objective reflecting the common will of Community countries. Secondly, it would have to be taken into account that the implementation of the internal market programme currently under way will significantly affect the economic environment in the Community. In particular:

> - the complete liberalisation of capital transactions by the middle of 1990 is an irreversible process in which the European

<u>Ole lan</u> : om t 58-61 land in værpanske lissene en alter perks ol he upart 702e, oleleke

The medicate

countries are already engaged. This will impose considerable, though differing, constraints on national policies and therefore necessitate a substantial reinforcement of monetary and economic policy co-ordination.

- in the monetary field the central banks will have to co-ordinate their policies much more closely at both internal and external levels;
- on the external side, the sizable fluctuations within the international monetary system have led central banks to rely more heavily on intervention in the foreign exchange markets on a co-ordinated basis. However, such a policy inevitably has a direct influence on the implementation of domestic monetary policies in these countries. It is therefore necessary and urgent that central banks create means for analysing such issues on a permanent and common basis. It is not only a matter of strengthening the impact of their operations, but also of maintaining the efficiency of their monetary management both at domestic and European levels;
- on the internal side, the tendency of the European central banks to conduct their monetary policies within the framework of the EMS in the light of domestic considerations in their respective countries is not necessarily conducive to fostering a monetary policy satisfactory for the Community as a whole. The creation of a common monetary think-tank for analysis and recommendations would make it possible to address this problem better. The deliberations within this monetary think-tank would in effect provide all central banks with a better basis for setting their own national approaches in a European context while preserving full decision-making autonomy;
- in the economic field the co-ordination of policies conducted at national levels as well as at the Community level will have to be strengthened considerably in recognition of the constraints generated by the growing economic integration under the internal market programme. The procedures for policy co-ordination laid down in the 1974 Convergence Decision will therefore have to be revised and made more effective in order to ensure that

L-D are likely to have

bauld treed

C-P

macro-economic policies, especially in the budgetary area, are coherent and consistent with exchange rate commitments.

The desirability of a clear demonstration of a common political will and the challenges of market integration would call for substantial and effective measures at the beginning of stage one, although, as noted earlier, the scope for such measures would be limited as long as a new Treaty had not yet been ratified. For this reason it is crucial that stage one should be introduced by the political decision to embark immediately on, and conclude as quickly as possible, intra-governmental negotiations on a Treaty, as well as a set of concrete measures aimed at effectively enhancing policy co-operation and co-ordination.

60. The second stage could begin when the Treaty had come into force. This would involve the construction of the institutional framework of the economic and monetary union and, where envisaged, a gradual transfer of operational functions to the Community institutions. This stage is conceived as a period of transition to the final stage and is thus characterised primarily by a training process leading to a collective decision-making, but without yet abandoning the ultimate responsibility for policy decisions at the national level. If stage two were conceived to last for a long period or if it were enacted without a clear understanding regarding a subsequent move to full economic and monetary union. the provisions of stage two would have to be designed differently.

61. The final stage would commence with the move to irrevocably locked exchange rates and the attribution to Community institutions of the monetary and economic competences described in Part II of this Report. In the course of the final stage the national currencies would eventually be replaced by the ecu as the Community's sole currency.

5. The principal steps in stage one

62. In the institutional field this stage would involve the preparation and ratification of the Treaty on the economic and monetary union, with a procedure similar to the one followed for the Single European Pohl: I at a lime to be decided in the lybe of program made in the Act, The decision to draw up a Treaty would be coupled with an official

1-P. alilite Poll: delek Duzah: dele a

TPall: new

L-P. Gelebe

delile

E7 Oblacke

integration process in these one

" in the inshibitional field, by the hime

of a handition to shape IT it wanted be meanary to prepare and natify the Treaks...

announcement that the ecu should develop into the currency of the future monetary union in Europe.

- 42 -

63. <u>In the economic field</u> the steps would centre on the completion of the internal market programme and measures to enhance the capacity for macro-economic management in the face of increasing market integration. In particular, there would be action in three directions.

Firstly, there would be a complete removal of internal barriers and liberalisation of exchanges of goods, services and capital within the Community, according to the internal market programme adopted in the Single European Act. The completion of the internal market would be accompanied by a strengthening of Community competition policy and of the executive and judicial authority to identify and sanction infringements of Community law.

Secondly, there would be full implementation of the "Brussels package" for reforming and doubling the structural funds, designed to enhance substantially the ability of Community policies to promote regional development and to correct economic imbalances.

Thirdly, the 1974 Council Decision on economic convergence would be replaced by a new procedure that would considerably strengthen the possibilities for constraining budgetary imbalances, as well as for assessing the consequences and the consistency of the overall policies of the member states. Co-ordination would be based on recommendations and carried out taking due account of the views of the Committee of Governors. In particular, the revised 1974 Decision on convergence would:

- establish a process of multilateral surveillance of economic developments and policies based on agreed indicators. Where performances are judged inadequate or detrimental to commonly set objectives, recommendations and policy consultations would take place at the Community level with the aim of promoting the necessary corrections in national policies;
- set up a new procedure for budgetary policy co-ordination, with increasingly precise quantitative guidelines and medium-term orientations;
- $\left[-\text{ define a programme of budgetary consolidation for member } (-1), countries concerned [by reducing, where necessary, the [central] <math>\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{O}}$ (countries concerned by reducing).

L-D. delile cheler: [] general

this vicks cucaeaching an the campetines

1-P: quale

government deficit to no more than X% of GNP over a period of Y years];

 provide for the possibility of promoting, where deemed appropriate, concerted budgetary action by the member countries.

64. <u>In the monetary field</u> focus would be placed on (implementing) financial integration and intensifying co-operation and co-ordination of monetary policies. Realignments of exchange rates would remain one of the instruments for adjusting imbalances among Community countries, but an effort would be made by every country to make the functioning of other adjustment mechanisms more effective. Actions would develop along several lines.

Firstly, through the approval and enforcement of the necessary Community Directives, the objective of a single financial space in which all monetary and financial instruments circulate freely and banking, securities and insurance services are offered uniformly throughout the area would be implemented.

Secondly, [efforts would be made] to include all Community currencies] in the EMS exchange rate mechanism. The same rules would apply to all the participants of the exchange rate mechanism.

[Thirdly, all regulatory impediments to the voluntary use of the ecu as a common numeraire and a means of settlement by private economic agents would be removed.]

Fourthly, the 1964 Council Decision defining the mandate of the Committee of Central Bank Governors would be replaced by a new Decision giving the Committee greater authority and prominence and making it the forerunner of the Council of the European System of Central Banks to be created under the new Treaty. The thrust of the revision would be to strengthen the co-ordination of monetary policy among all member countries of the Community. To this end, the Committee of Governors would:

> - formulate [recommendations] on the overall orientation of monetary and exchange rate policy, [as well as on measures taken in these fields by individual countries. In particular, the Committee would be consulted in advance of national decisions on the course of monetary policy, such as the setting of annual domestic monetary and credit targets. [In the event of speculative capital

de lar: indicate that that you much be to normal coljustiment instrument but on exceptional means sanctioning the absence of adjustiment

Pell [] opinion [] delike??

Pole [] dulike

Pote alilite de la "

flows unwarranted by fundamentals or underlying monetary policy, the Committee could declare publicly, that the European central banks stood ready to counteract these capital flows by interventions;

- make policy recommendations to individual governments and the Council of Ministers on 'non-monetary policies that could affect the internal and external monetary situation in the Community, especially the functioning of the EMS. The outcome of the Committee's deliberations could be made public by the Chairman of the Committee;
- submit an annual report on its activities and on the monetary situation of the Community to the European Council and the European Parliament.

The Committee's opinions and recommendations would not have to reflect unanimity, but could be established by a qualified majority; the recommendations would not be binding. In order to reinforce the monitoring and the analysis of monetary and economic developments the Committee would:

> - set up three committees (supported by a permanent research staff) which would report regularly to and advise the Committee of Governors. A monetary policy committee would define common surveillance instruments, propose harmonised objectives and instruments and help to gradually induce a change-over from ex post analysis to an ex ante approach to monetary policy co-operation; a foreign exchange policy committee would monitor and analyse exchange market developments and assist in the search for effective intervention strategies; [should these two committees possibly be merged into a single one in order to facilitate an integrated approach to monetary policy?] a committee on banking supervision would hold regular consultations on matters of common interest in this field.

[Finally, efforts would be made to increase the independence of national central banks.]

de lars della

ale les: l'Alelle T have to actual uncention the and wooded not be hindung

Pill: delike

Ole lev: The governase, menter of the Cammittee, have decided to see face the existing committees of experts and to impose them by a permanence research sheft. Her therefore essential at this way birt shape to create an appropriately throug acceance structure and holewing frinchian on the hielder of monchas policy, foruge exchange policy and banking (upper written.

L-P: delike

ope les: Geen this ichia

65. A number of Committee members advocated the creation of a <u>European Reserve Fund (ERF)</u> that would foreshadow the future European System of Central Banks. The main objectives of the ERF would be:

- 45 -

- to serve as a training ground for implementing a better co-ordination of monetary analysis and decisions;

(-P: delete ar showher (cerle the build le brug !)

- to facilitate, from a Community point of view, the concerted management of exchange rates and possibly to intervene visibly (in third and participating currencies) on the foreign exchange market upon request of the participating central banks;
- to be the symbol of the political will of the European countries and therefore reinforce the credibility of the process towards economic and monetary union.

The resources of the Fund would be provided by a pooling of a limited amount of reserves (for instance 10% at the start) by participating central banks and require a permanent structure and staff in order to achieve its tasks, i.e.:

- management of the pooled reserves;
- interventions on the exchange markets decided by the members;
- analysing, from a collective perspective, monetary trends in order to enhance policy co-ordination.

All EC central banks would be eligible to join the Fund. However, membership would be subject to their participation in the exchange rate mechanism, the reason being that the EMS implies specific constraints on monetary policy and foreign exchange interventions that both require a common approach of the central bank concerned.

The management of the ERF would consist of:

- a Board of Directors which would comprise automatically the Governors of each central bank participating in the ERF;
- an Executive Committee whose members would be selected by the Committee of Governors on the basis of competence. This Executive Committee would be of a small size, consisting of three or four

members who would have direct responsibility for the different departments of the ERF; findle - the two Committees: a Foreign Exchange Policy and a Monetary

- the ewo Committees: a Foreign Exchange Policy and a Monetary Policy Committees and a committee on Ganhing Supervixion

delv

- two departments: a Foreign Exchange and Reserves Management Department, and a Monetary Policy Department.

66. Other members of the Committee felt that the creation of a ERF was not opportune at this stage. Their reservations stem from the fact that:

- 46 -

- too much emphasis is placed on external considerations, fostering the illusion that common interventions by such a Fund could be a substitute for economic adjustment to correct imbalances within the Community or would offer individual countries more leeway in their domestic monetary policy; 7
- the proposal involves an institutional change which, in accordance with Article 102A of the amended Treaty of Rome, would fall under the procedure stipulated in Article 236 and require a new Treaty; the adoption of an alternative procedure, such as an inter-governmental agreement among the member countries concerned, as well as the setting-up of the Fund under the same procedures as were applied to the establishment of the EMS are not considered possible;
- it would be counterproductive to set up a new institution for a limited period of time, in particular if most of the functions of the Fund could be performed by the Committee of Governors if it were given wider powers;
- [it would institutionalise the separation of the Community into two groups of countries]

However, the Committee members opposed to the immediate creation of the ERF could envisage some pooling of reserves and intervention operations at a later stage, but before the definite locking of parities.

can les he a suls librale for economic adjust hund

delais any would not think that there in burne hours

delar: they consider that same functions of the Find contact be performed by the Committee of Countries, if it was prime weller powers; thus there is no hered to Pole: bedraft she was a new instruction immediates. Durinters: vedraft she will be here it bounded, at the short in thick the Separation of the Countrienty into two groups C-P: un ecceptible of Can here Pole: bedraft 6. The principal steps in stage two

67. In the institutional field the basic organs and structure of the economic and monetary union would be set up in accordance with the Treaty. involving both the revision of existing institutions and the establishment of new ones. The institutional framework would gradually take over operational functions, serve as the centre for monitoring and analysing macro-economic developments and promote a process of common decision-making, although the ultimate policy responsibility would still remain in the hands of the national authorities. However, as stage two represents a learning process allowing the Community to gain experience with operating in a new institutional setting and to approach progressively the conditions of economic and monetary union, it would be crucial that certain operational decisions were made by qualified majority./In order to ensure that this would not imply a relinquishment of national policy autonomy, the adoption of a qualified majority would have to be confined either to the use of instruments whose impact on economic developments is negligible or to decisions which do not hinder national authorities.)

- 47 -

68. <u>In the economic field</u> the Council and the Commission (with some involvement of the European Parliament), would reinforce their action along three lines.

Firstly, with regard to the single market and competition policy the results attained through the implementation of the single market programme would be consolidated and, wherever needed, completed.

f Secondly, an evaluation of the implementation of the "Brussels package" would be made and a new programme of structural and regional actions would be adopted and the resources for supporting the structural $(-\rho)$: \mathcal{O}_{L} by policies of the member states would be enlarged. Community investment programmes in research and infrastructure would be strengthened.

Thirdly, in the area of macro-economic policy, the provisions set up in the first stage through the revision of the 1974 Decision on convergence would be further strengthened by the adoption of guidelines decided by a qualified majority. Under this procedure the Community would: - Ibehn clevely that a bundle merbal element is the setting up of an operational charebuse accuring joint thamagement of mometing polics - bether acturned to his playnoich is an like out illustration of the need for joint operations

> . Another reference required a pooling of hereans + of suppossible libites the environment in ERF program

- anarach Thegerer vechalt by henry

- costher to annere Nerren hen propored: to annered 75-76, he make her proceedine man climed, along 77

(-P. too much de bard on shapes tit + Uti wither them" he be applieded by his keet, partie 20 - 33

.

Pall: - and

(-P. delik

Cami

- set a medium-term framework for key economic objectives with a follow-up procedure for monitoring performances and intervening when significant deviations occurred;
- set progressively more precise although not yet binding rules relating to the size of budget deficits and their financing; ->>
- on the basis of its present representation (through the member states or the Commission) in the various fora for international policy co-ordination, the Community would assume a more active role as a single entity in the discussion of questions arising in the economic and exchange rate field.

69. In the monetary field the European System of Central Banks having all the principal features described in Part II of the Report would be set up and would absorb the previously existing institutional monetary arrangements (the EMCF, the Committee of Governors, the committees for monetary policy analysis, foreign exchange policy and banking supervision, and the permanent Secretariat). The most important feature of this stage would be that the functions of the ESCB in the formulation and operation of a common monetary policy would gradually evolve as experience was gained. Exchange rate realignments would remain an instrument of adjustment, but there would be an understanding that the frequency and the extent of realignments should be steadily reduced. Some possible schemes for co-ordinating monetary policies in the course of this stage are discussed in the Annex to the Report.

Initially the ESCB framework would be used: as a joint facility to be shared by national central banks for implementing national monetary policy through operations in domestic and foreign exchange markets; as a centre for monitoring and analysing domestic monetary conditions and foreign exchange market developments; as a centre for the co-ordination of national monetary policies. In the course of this stage the procedures would be altered in such a way as to capture the entire monetary operations of national central banks in their accounts and their transactions with the ESCB.

[In addition, a number of actions (would be taken in stage two.

[Firstly, a certain amount of exchange reserves [would] be pooled and would be used to conduct limited exchange market interventions in

the committion that have the bespon with Gity Pote: add : of him in before the Cameril any how - camp l'ance Durn hery : edel by manber she has and should propose a chian Bit he unery.

in checke that ex_ a adjustment are not de la : & bound instrument of estimate

delike

[] myhl (huice!) Pole [] delete

Parisanbesg: add Any majority blaision by the ESCIS presupposes action by marker states to ensure that and have founded in this position as markers of the ESCIS Canade shared act in dependently of this go annunces. accordance with guidelines established by the ESCB Council. Such guidelines would be determined by qualified majority.

- 49 -

Secondly, general monetary targets would be set for the Community as a whole, with a [presumption] that national monetary policy would be executed in accordance with these global guidelines. The general monetary targets would be set by the ESCB Council on the basis of a qualified majority decision.

57 undurhanden

12

de la

Thirdly, while the ultimate responsibility for monetary policy decisions would remain in the hands of national authorities, the operational framework necessary for deciding and implementing a common monetary policy would be created and experimented with. In this context ecus issued by the ESCB could be used as reserve instruments. The decision on the amount of ecu reserves to be issued could be made on the basis of a qualified majority. But under the experimental scheme the minimum reserve requirement would not yet be compulsory. This scheme is described in greater detail in the Annex to this Report.

Fourthly, regulatory functions would be exerted by the ESCB in the monetary and banking field in order to achieve a minimum harmonisation of provisions (such as reserve requirements or payments arrangements) necessary for the future conduct of a common monetary policy.

Fifthly, the margins of fluctuation within the ERM would be narrowed as a move towards the final stage of the monetary union, in which they could be reduced to zero.

[Still to be discussed: voting procedure in the ESCB Council in stage two.] 7

7. <u>The principal steps in stage three</u>

70. <u>In the institutional field</u> there would be the full attribution of competences to Community institutions, as foreseen in the Treaty.

71. <u>In the economic field</u> the transition to this final stage would be marked by three developments.

Firstly, there would be a further strengthening of structural and regional policies of the Community. Instruments and resources would be adapted to the needs of the economic and monetary union.

Secondly, the rules and procedures of the Community in the macro-economic and budgetary field would assume a binding character.

- 50 -

- to impose constraints on national budgets to the extent to which this is necessary to prevent imbalances that may threaten monetary stability;
- to make discretionary changes (through a procedure to be defined) in Community resources to supplement structural transfers to member states or to influence the overall policy stance in the Community;
- [- to propose discretionary changes (through a procedure to be [-1. Olla lo defined) in the level of harmonised taxation rates;]
- to apply some form of conditionality to existing Community structural policies and to Community loans (as a substitute for the present medium-term loans facility);

Thirdly, the Community would assume its full role in the process of international policy co-operation and a new form of representation in arrangements for international policy co-ordination and in internal monetary negotiations would be adopted.

72. <u>In the monetary field</u> the irrevocable locking of exchange rates would come into effect and the transition to a single monetary policy would be made, with the ESCB assuming all its responsibilities as foreseen in the Treaty and described in Part II. In particular:

- concurrent with the announcement of irrevocable fixing of parities between the Community currencies, the formulation and implementation of monetary policy in the Community would be conducted by the ESCB, with its Council and Board exercising their statutory functions;
- decisions on exchange market interventions in third currencies would be made entirely under the responsibility of the ESCB Council in accordance with Community exchange rate policy; the

Pole, meer the canhol of

execution of interventions would be entrusted to fone or if him he national central banks on the European lysher of and Reals. - technical and regulatory work would be done to prepare the

Ole (w:

, transition to the ecu as single currency of the Community.

The change-over to the single currency would take place during this stage.

- 51 -

Pole: add sechin an lollow - up Mugue Gers

de las, reducife of 75:

Simultancemple i't is decided to land a negotiction on a verifiel Tocchy in an intergommental conference to be called for by the theods of (bete. In the framework of this rejotiction the competent Community hocks, will make concashe proposeds on the best of this report concashe proposeds on the best of this report concerning the second and the final shape. This proposed built be unbodied but the epproposede legal contrictions in the reason Tarchy.

76: first illaaburee, after "on e besis" teplee text by: "which well choole kope immechatike regson or the member cambries."